## University of Louisville ThinkIR: The University of Louisville's Institutional Repository

**Electronic Theses and Dissertations** 

5-2016

# SA-4-1BBL as a modulator of innate, adaptive, and regulatory immunity : implications for cancer prevention and treatment.

Hampartsoum Barsoumian *University of Louisville* 

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.library.louisville.edu/etd Part of the <u>Allergy and Immunology Commons</u>, and the <u>Microbiology Commons</u>

#### **Recommended** Citation

Barsoumian, Hampartsoum, "SA-4-1BBL as a modulator of innate, adaptive, and regulatory immunity : implications for cancer prevention and treatment." (2016). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. Paper 2377. https://doi.org/10.18297/etd/2377

This Doctoral Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by ThinkIR: The University of Louisville's Institutional Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ThinkIR: The University of Louisville's Institutional Repository. This title appears here courtesy of the author, who has retained all other copyrights. For more information, please contact thinkir@louisville.edu.

# SA-4-1BBL AS A MODULATOR OF INNATE, ADAPTIVE, AND REGULATORY IMMUNITY: IMPLICATIONS FOR CANCER PREVENTION AND TREATMENT

By

Hampartsoum Barsoumian B.S., American University of Beirut, 2008 M.S., American University of Beirut, 2010 M.S., University of Louisville, 2012

A Dissertation Submitted to the School of Medicine at University of Louisville in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

> Doctor of Philosophy In Microbiology and Immunology

Department of Microbiology and Immunology University of Louisville Louisville, Kentucky

May, 2016

Copyright 2016 by Hampartsoum Barsoumian

All rights reserved

# SA-4-1BBL AS A MODULATOR OF INNATE, ADAPTIVE, AND REGULATORY IMMUNITY: IMPLICATIONS FOR CANCER PREVENTION AND TREATMENT

By

Hampartsoum Barsoumian B.S., American University of Beirut, 2008 M.S., American University of Beirut, 2010 M.S., University of Louisville, 2012

A Dissertation Approved on

April 14, 2016

by the following Dissertation Committee

Dissertation Director: Dr. Haval Shirwan

Dissertation Co-Director: Dr. Esma Yolcu

Committee Member: Dr. Jill Suttles

Committee Member: Dr. Jun Yan

\_\_\_\_\_

Committee Member: Dr. Huang-Ge Zhang

### DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to my parents

Mr. Berj Barsoumian

and

Mrs. Armine Akinian Barsoumian

who have illuminated and generously supported my educational journey through science

and life.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to deeply thank my mentor and professor, Dr. Haval Shirwan, for his guidance and patience. I am also grateful to my co-mentor Dr. Esma Yolcu who cared for me like a mother inside as well as outside the laboratory environment. I would like to thank my kind and supportive committee members, Dr. Jill Suttles, Dr. Jun Yan, and Dr. Huang-Ge Zhang, for their valuable comments and input over the past years. Also my appreciations go to my family members, Berj, Armine, and Viken.

Special thanks to my lab members Hong Zhao, Orlando Grimany, Kyle Woodward, Gunes Dinc, William Bowen, Chris Williams, and Lalit Batra for their friendship and scientific discussions. Finally, I would like to thank the department of Microbiology and Immunology and the Institute of Cellular Therapeutics for providing a great and friendly work setting.

#### ABSTRACT

# SA-4-1BBL AS A MODULATOR OF INNATE, ADAPTIVE, AND REGULATORY IMMUNITY: IMPLICATIONS FOR CANCER PREVENTION AND TREATMENT

Hampartsoum Barsoumian

#### April 14, 2016

SA-4-1BBL is a recombinant costimulatory molecule that is active in its soluble form and has pleiotropic effects on the functions of innate, adaptive, and regulatory immune cells. We have previously shown that SA-4-1BBL makes CD4<sup>+</sup> T conventional cells (Tconvs) resistant to suppression by CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup> T regulatory cells (Tregs). The mechanistic basis of this observation is the subject of this study. We demonstrate that Tconvs, but not Tregs, are the direct targets of SA-4-1BBL-mediated evasion of Treg suppression without contribution from antigen presenting cells (APCs). SA-4-1BBL engagement with its receptor, 4-1BB, on Tconvs resulted in the production of high levels of IL-2 cytokine that was necessary and sufficient in overcoming Treg suppression. Removal of IL-2 from culture supernatant restored Treg suppression and repletion of Tconv:Treg cocultures with exogenous recombinant IL-2 overcame suppression.

In a series of studies our laboratory demonstrated the therapeutic efficacy of SA-4-1BBL as an adjuvant component of subunit cancer vaccines in various preclinical rodent cancer models. Inasmuch as SA-4-1BBL contains streptavidin (SA) as a foreign bacterial protein, repeated vaccinations may generate anti-SA antibodies. Such antibodies may have positive or negative effect on the efficacy of the vaccines. Therefore, a series of studies were conducted to assess the potential impact of SA's immunogenicity on the immuno-stimulatory function of SA-4-1BBL molecule. We demonstrated that repeated treatments with SA-4-1BBL generate both cellular and humoral immune responses against the SA portion of the molecule. Antibodies against SA neither blocked nor improved the costimulatory function of SA-4-1BBL on T cells. Importantly, pre-immunization with SA-4-1BBL protein alone did not interfere with the therapeutic efficacy of a subunit vaccine consisting of the human papillomavirs (HPV) E7 tumor associated antigen (TAA) + SA-4-1BBL in the TC-1 cervical cancer tumor model. Surprisingly, pretreatment with SA-4-1BBL alone conferred protection regardless of the type of tumor tested.

The robust anti-tumor function of SA-4-1BBL involved a communication bridge between CD4 and NK cells without significant contribution from CD8 cells or B cells. NK cells were found to be critical to the observed tumor suppression and required CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell help for protective efficacy at both priming and effector stages. Depletion of either NK or CD4 cells negated SA-4-1BBL's anti-tumor protection. Moreover, the tumor suppressive effect of SA-4-1BBL was shown to be a bona fide property of this molecule, as immunizing mice with an agonistic antibody to 4-1BB receptor did not confer any protection against TC-1 tumors.

The significance of understating the mechanisms underlying SA-4-1BBL's mode of action provides new tools in the evolving field of cancer immunotherapy and prevention. The implications also extend to transplantation settings as well as infectious diseases where tipping the balance between Tregs and T effector cells (Teffs) plays a critical role in achieving desired outcomes.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
Costimulation as a critical signal for productive T cell responses	1
TNFR family members in costimulation	3
4-1BB costimulation and signaling background	5
4-1BB in Cancer Vaccines	7
SA-4-1BBL as a potent adjuvant	9
SA-4-1BBL adjuvant effect on adaptive immunity	10
SA-4-1BBL adjuvant effect on innate immunity	11
SA-4-1BBL's role in regulatory immunity	12
CHAPTER 2: SA-4-1BBL LIBERATES CONVENTIONAL T CELLS FROM NATURAL T REGULATORY CELLS SUPPRESSION VIA IL-2	14
Introduction	14
Materials and Methods	15
Mice and reagents	15
Cell sorting	16
Ex-vivo expansion of Tregs	16
Suppression assays with and without APCs	16
Cytometric bead array	17
RT-PCR for IL-2 expression	17
Removal of SA-4-1BBL and IL-2 from Tconv culture supernatant	18
Statistical analysis	19
Results	19
APCs do not contribute to SA-4-1BBL-mediated evasion of Treg suppression	19
TGF- $\beta$ and IFN $\gamma$ do not contribute to SA-4-1BBL-mediated evasion from Treg	
suppression	20

IL-2 is the major cytokine produced in the supernatant of Tconv:Treg cocultures costimulated with SA-4-1BBL	.1
IL-2 is necessary and sufficient for Tconvs to overcome Treg suppression	2
IL-2-mediated Tconvs evasion of Tregs suppression is independent of Tregs proliferative state	.3
Discussion	4
CHAPTER 3: SA-4-1BBL AS AN IMMUNE ADJUVANT FOR THE GENERATION OF PROTECTIVE INNATE AND ADAPTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES AGAINST TUMORS	9
Introduction	9
Materials and Methods	1
Mice	1
Antibodies and Reagents	1
Immunization strategy and tumor challenge	2
Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) for serum antibodies and subtyping3	2
Adoptive serum transfer	3
Anti-CD3 proliferation assay	3
Flow cytometry and phenotyping	3
Statistics	4
Results	4
Streptavidin portion of SA-4-1BBL is immunogenic	4
Anti-SA Abs do not negatively impact the costimulatory function of SA-4-1BBL <i>in vitro</i> and <i>in vivo</i>	5
Pretreatment with SA-4-1BBL generates a prolonged window of immune responses against TC-1 tumor	6
SA-4-1BBL generates long-term immune memory against TC-1	7
The protective effect of pretreatment with SA-4-1BBL is tumor-type independent. 3	7
Anti-SA Abs do not play a role in the protective effect of pretreatment with SA-4- 1BBL against TC-1 tumor	8
Protective effect of SA-4-1BBL against tumor involves a cross-talk between NK and CD4 <sup>+</sup> T cells	d 8
CD4 cells should recognize SA for optimal anti-tumor protectivity	9

The anti-tumor effect of SA-4-1BBL is a unique property of this molecul	e and is not
achieved using agonistic Ab to the receptor	40
Discussion	
FIGURES	
REFERENCES	88
CURRICULUM VITAE	

## LIST OF FIGURES

FIGU	FIGURE PAG		
1.	Costimulation by SA-4-1BBL overcomes suppression of Tconvs by Tregs independent of APCs.	.48	
2.	Costimulation by SA-4-1BBL overcomes suppression of Tregs to Tconvs i absence of APCs.	n .49	
3.	TGF- $\beta$ cytokine is not involved in Tconv evasion of Treg suppression	.50	
4.	Cell surface-bound TGF-β is not involved in Tconv evasion of Treg suppression.	51	
5.	IFN-γ cytokine is not involved in Tconv evasion of Treg suppression	.52	
6.	IL-2 is a predominant cytokine upregulated in Tconv and Tregs cocultures costimulated with SA-4-1BBL.	53	
7.	IL-2 is the predominant cytokine upregulated in Tconv and Tregs coculture costimulated with SA-4-1BBL without APCs	es 54	
8.	RT-PCR ΔΔCT values for relative IL-2 mRNA expression	55	
9.	Removal of SA-4-1BBL from Tconv culture supernatants	56	
10.	. Removal of IL-2 from Tconv culture supernatants	57	
11.	. SA-4-1BBL costimulation-mediated IL-2 production by Tconvs is both nec and sufficient in overcoming Treg suppression	cessary 58	
12.	. Tconvs proliferate to a higher extent upon SA-4-1BBL stimulation as comp to Tregs	pared 59	
13.	. IL-2-mediated Tconvs evasion of Tregs suppression is independent of Treg proliferative state	şs 50	
14.	. Schematic time line to study SA-4-1BBL's immunogenicity	.61	
15.	. Anti-SA antibodies generated in vivo upon SA-4-1BBL immunization	62	

16.	. Subtyping serum ELISA for pre-immunization group on days 21 and 90	63
17.	SA is immunogenic and drives the proliferation of T cells <i>in vitro</i>	64
18.	Anti-SA antibodies generated <i>in vivo</i> do not help the <i>in vitro</i> proliferative f of SA-4-1BBL molecule	unction 55
19.	. Pre-immunization with SA-4-1BBL does not alter the post-tumor vaccinati outcome, but scores 100% survival against TC-1 tumors	on 6
20.	Time-course pre-immunization studies with 1 shot SA-4-1BBL against TC-16	57
21.	Time-course pre-immunization studies with 2 shots SA-4-1BBL against TC-1	68
22.	. Time-course pre-immunization studies continuation with 2 shots SA-4-1BI against TC-1	3L 59
23.	. SA-4-1BBL establishes significant long-term immune memory against TC-1	0
24.	. SA-4-1BBL primarily generates long-term CD4 effector memory7	71
25.	. SA-4-1BBL rejects tumors in a non-specific fashion	2
26.	Anti-SA humoral immune response did not contribute to the SA-4-1-BBL- mediated rejection of tumors.	73
27.	. Depletion of NK cells negates SA-4-1BBL's protective effect	74
28.	Depletion of CD4 cells but not CD8 cells negates SA-4-1BBL's protective effect.	75
29.	. CD4 cells are required during effector phase after TC-1 challenge	76
30.	. B cells and antibodies are not involved in SA-4-1BBL-mediated tumor protection	77
31.	. SA-4-1BBL immunization is ineffective against TC-1 in 4C mice	78
32.	. 4C splenocytes stimulated with SA have compromised proliferation	.79
33.	. SA-4-1BBL immunization is capable of generating anti-SA antibodies in 4 mice.	C 80

34.	Subtyping ELISA at tumor endpoints for 4C mice pre-immunized twice with SA- 4-1BBL
35.	SA-4-1BBL vs. SA+3H3: SA-4-1BBL as a <i>bona fide</i> novel immunomodulatory molecule
36.	Immunization with 3H3 reduces NK cell percentages in spleen lymphocyte population
37.	Immunization with 3H3 reduces NK absolute cell numbers in spleen lymphocyte population
38.	Immunization with 3H3 reduces NK cell percentages in draining lymph nodes' lymphocyte population
39.	Immunization with SA+3H3 vs. SA-4-1BBL absolute cell numbers profile in draining lymph nodes
40.	SA+ 3H3 immunization shuts down antibody production

#### **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

#### Costimulation as a critical signal for productive T cell responses

T cells are the critical cell type in adaptive immunity. T cells require 3 standard signals for activation, proliferation, acquisition of effector function, and establishment of long-term memory. Signal 1 is usually provided through T cell receptor (TCR) interacting with Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) class I or II molecules on antigen presenting cells (APCs) loaded with processed antigens. Costimulation provides signal 2, while soluble factors and cytokines constitute signal 3. All signals together decide on the fate and differentiation of the T cell in concern (1). CD8<sup>+</sup>T cells for example interact with MHC-I during viral infections or in the presence of intracellular pathogens and acquire effector functions capable of clearing the infection of concern. CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells on the other hand interact with MHC-II molecules and convert from their T helper Th0 state into either Th1, Th2, Th17, or CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup> T regulatory cells (Tregs) , based on the antigen and type of costimulation engaged (Illustration 1). More importantly, the lack of costimulation leads to T cell anergy and unresponsiveness followed by cell death and inefficient tumor or infection clearance.



Illustration 1. Guarner et al. *Nature Clinical Practice Gastroenterology & Hepatology* (2006) **3**, 275-284.

Costimulatory molecules in general are categorized into two wider families: CD28 and tumor necrosis factor receptor (TNFR) superfamily. CD28 for example is constitutively expressed on T cells and interacts with B7 molecules on APCs to drive activation of T cells. CD28 action is usually maintained under control by its competitor cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA-4), also expressed on T cells and delivers inhibitory signals when interacting with B7 at higher affinity (2). TNFR family members on the other hand, such as 4-1BB, OX40, and CD27 (Illustration 2), are inducibly expressed on activated T cells (CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup>), Tregs, NK cells, mast cells, and neutrophils (3). The inducible expression on antigen-experienced T cells is advantageous for the expansion of antigen-specific immune responses in therapeutic settings and provides a better on/off switch.



Illustration 2. Michael Croft, Nature Reviews Immunology (2003) 3. 609-620.

#### **TNFR family members in costimulation**

There are 27 TNF-ligands identified so far with biological functions. Ligand/receptor pairs with costimulatory signaling capacity include CD40L (CD154)/CD40, CD70/CD27, 4-1BBL/4-1BB (CD137), OX40L/OX40 (CD 134), GITRL/ GITR (CD 357), and HVEMLs/ HVEM (CD 270), that have showed promise as therapeutic modulators of T cell immunity (4).

**CD40L/CD40:** CD40L expression has been identified on activated B cells, epithelial cells, endothelial cells, platelets, smooth muscle cells, and DCs. Expression of its receptor CD40 is found on B-cells, monocytes, macrophages, platelets, DCs, eosinophils, and activated CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (4). The main function of CD40L/CD40 is to activate and

"license" DCs to prime effective cytotoxic CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell responses. In its absence "unlicensed" DCs induce T-cell anergy or T-cell deletion and generate regulatory T cells (5, 6).

**CD70/CD27:** The expression of CD70 is restricted to activated T and B lymphocytes and mature DCs. CD27 is a type I transmembrane receptor expressed on naive T cells, mature T cells, memory B cells, and NK cells (4). The key biological function of CD70 is to prime CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses and enhance T-cell survival and effector functions. CD70/CD27 signaling promotes the development of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells that are able to produce Th1 and Th2 cytokines (7).

**OX40L/OX40:** OX40 is majorly expressed by activated CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, NK cells, NKT cells, and neutrophils. OX40L is primarily expressed by APCs such as DCs, B-cells, and macrophages. OX40 provides a co-stimulatory signal to TCR-stimulated T cells and enhances clonal expansion, proinflammatory cytokine production, and generation of memory CD4 T cells. Furthermore, OX40 promotes CD8 T cells survival and expansion directly or indirectly via the induction of CD4 T-helper responses (8).

**GITRL/GITR:** GITR is expressed at low levels on resting CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, DCs, monocytes, and NK cells. GITR ligand (GITRL) is highly expressed on activated APCs and endothelial cells (ECs), and it promotes leukocyte adhesion and transmigration (9). Moreover, GITR ligation has been shown to break self-tolerance and abrogate T-cell suppression by Tregs, which could be utilized as a target for cancer immunotherapy (10).

**HVEMLs/HVEM:** The Herpesvirus entry mediator (HVEM) expression is in fact opposite to 4-1BB, OX40, and GITR expression patterns. HVEM is highly expressed on naive and memory B cells as well as resting T cells, but down regulates upon B and T

4

cell activation. There are four ligands for HVEM: CD160 (a member of the Ig superfamily); B- and T-lymphocyte attenuator (BTLA); LIGHT; and lymphotoxin-alpha. Interaction of CD160 and BTLA with HVEM inhibits B and T cell activation, while interaction of LIGHT or lymphotoxin-alpha with HVEM triggers T and B cell activation and APC maturation and differentiation (11).

#### 4-1BB costimulation and signaling background

4-1BB, also known as CD137/TNFSF9, is a member of TNFR superfamily (12). It is a costimulatory molecule that is upregulated on the surface of lymphoid cells such as T cells, B cells, and NK cells when activated and non-lymphoid cells such as dendritic cells (DCs), macrophages, neutrophils, and malignant tumor endothelial cells (13). Upon 4-1BB receptor clustering, a heterotrimer is formed consisting of TNF-receptor associated factors (TRAFs) where two molecules of TRAF2 combine with one molecule of TRAF1. TRAF2 initiates a signaling cascade of mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinases and NF-κB activation, which in turn leads to the production of more TRAF1 that sustains the effect of 4-1BB costimulation. TRAF1 favors extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) pathways (Illustration 3). The end result is the expansion and survival of T cells, acquisition of effector functions, and establishment of long-term memory (14, 15). Key cytokines produced also include TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-2, IL-12, and IFN- $\gamma$ .



Illustration 3. Chao Wang, Tania H. Watts. *Cytokine & Growth Factor Reviews* (2012) **23**, 245–254.

More recently 4-1BB costimulation has been shown to reduce T cell exhaustion in *ex vivo* settings where there is persistent antigen exposure. The authors in the study used genetically engineered T cells that express chimeric antigen receptors (CARs) capable of recognizing specific antigens and activating T cells independent of MHCs. Contrary to 4-1BB, CD28 costimulation in the CAR model has been shown to enhance exhaustion (16). In a transplanted melanoma model, Curran et al. have shown that mice treated with anti-4-1BB antibodies generate novel forms of CD4<sup>+</sup> killer and CD8<sup>+</sup> killer tumor infiltrating T cells characterized by the expression of killer-cell lectin like receptor G1 (KLRG1) and the transcription factor Eomesodermin (Eomes) independent of the T-box transcription factor (T-bet) expression. These cells were shown to produce granzymes capable of killing melanoma cells. In addition to that, amongst the members of TNFR family agonists, only 4-1BB signaling has generated the KLRG1<sup>+</sup>Eomes<sup>+</sup> killer phenotype, while anti-OX40, anti-GITR, and anti-CD27 could not (17).

It is important here to also shed light on the regulatory aspects of 4-1BB signaling as it plays a double edged sword by generating and expanding effector immunity as well as expanding and promoting Treg functions and redirecting T cell polarization. In mice for example, 4-1BB is constitutively expressed on Tregs and can respond to 4-1BBL + IL-2 + TGF- $\beta$  stimuli to induce their proliferation. The duality of 4-1BB function seems to be at least partially controlled by Galectin-9, a member of the  $\beta$ -galactoside-binding family of lectins (18). Upon addition of anti-4-1BB antibody (clone 3H3), Gal-9 binds to 4-1BB on the cell surface without competing with the binding sites of the ligand nor 3H3. Gal-9 binding is demonstrated to be required for the ability of 4-1BB signaling to suppress experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) and allergic asthma in vivo (18). In another study, 4-1BB ligand was shown to play a regulatory role in T cells that are weakly activated under suboptimal conditions below the threshold of 4-1BB expression and activation. Once the activation threshold was met, cell intrinsic 4-1BB was shown to downregulate the expression of 4-1BBL by endocytosis and internalization (19). This balance between the ligand and the receptor is necessary for maintaining immune system homeostasis.

#### 4-1BB in Cancer Vaccines

Cancer vaccines usually consist of two major categories: Prophylactic/preventative such as Gardasil® and Cervarix® against Human Papillomavirus (HPV) 16 and 18, or therapeutic such as the dendritic cell based vaccine (*Sipuleucel-T*) approved by the FDA in the USA on 2010. The down side of DC vaccines is that they are relatively expensive, need to be subject customized, and are technically challenging to produce. Subunit vaccines consisting of tumor associated or specific

antigens and immune-adjuvants, are more economically feasible and present as effective alternatives to cell-based vaccines with ease of production and marketing. The culprit in the subunit vaccines is that the immunogenicity of most antigens is low, most of them being self antigens, as well as the lack of potent and safe vaccine adjuvants capable of overcoming tumor immune evasion mechanisms. As such, in the absence of predefined tumor specific antigens and alongside conventional chemotherapy, scientists have started incorporating alternative immune modulators in clinical cancer therapies, such as the use of monoclonal antibodies targeted towards tumors and/or cells of the immune system. Some of the clinically approved candidates include i) the monoclonal antibody Herceptin (Trastuzumab) directed towards breast cancer cells expressing the human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (Her2) protein (20). ii) Ipilimumab, an anti-CTLA antibody, which blocks the action of Tregs giving more room for Teffs and NK cells to carry out their killer functions (21). iii) Antibodies blocking the programmed death receptor-1 (PD-1) that is usually expressed by activated lymphocytes and delivers an inhibitory signal when associated with its ligand expressed by APCs as well as tumors (22). iv) Agonistic antibodies to 4-1BB costimulatory receptor, especially picked from the tumor necrosis factor superfamily due to its promising pre-clinical and clinical outcomes in fighting tumors and activating a wide array of effector immune cells.

The major drawback of anti-4-1BB antibodies is the high level of associated toxicity as reported by several studies in rodents and humans (15). Toxicity profiles are usually characterized by non-specific activation of immunity resulting in systemic inflammation, splenomegaly, lymphadenopathy, increased liver enzymes AST/ALT, as well as hepatitis. The observed toxicity is shown to be independent of FcγR or

8

complement system activation as inflammation was persistent in  $Fc\gamma R^{-/-}$  and complement  $C1q^{-/-}$  or  $C3^{-/-}$  knockout mice (23). Upregulation of non-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells was noted upon immunizing naïve C57BL/6 mice with anti-4-1BB antibody clone 3H3 accompanied with high levels of IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  production. Higher doses of 3H3 also abrogated T helper cell dependent humoral immunity, caused more hepatomegaly, as well as anemia and disturbance in bone marrow's cellular compartment (24).

#### SA-4-1BBL as a potent adjuvant

Taking into account the various toxic facets of agonistic 4-1BB antibody treatments and the fact that naturally occurring 4-1BBL is inactive in its soluble form unless bound to a cell surface membrane, our lab has generated and produced a novel soluble form of 4-1BBL adjuvant by fusing the extracellular domain of murine 4-1BBL to the C-terminus of a modified core streptavidin (SA). SA forms stable tetramers and oligomers which is important to cluster the 4-1BB receptors on corresponding cells and enhance signal transduction (Illustration 4). Side by side comparison studies between soluble SA-4-1BBL and 3H3 have shown SA-4-1BBL to be more potent activator than 3H3 while lacking the antibody associated toxicity (23). Our lab has conducted a series of extensive studies demonstrating the *in vitro* and *in vivo* pleiotropic functions of SA-4-1BBL on adaptive, innate, and regulatory immune cells.



Illustration 4. SA-4-1BBL structural representation. Shirwan's Lab, 2016.

#### SA-4-1BBL adjuvant effect on adaptive immunity

In our attempt to develop subunit based therapeutic cancer vaccines using defined TAAs, SA-4-1BBL was shown to act on CD4<sup>+</sup> as well as CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells to fulfill its potent adjuvant role in the designed vaccine formulations. Depletion of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells 1 day prior tumor inoculation in two transplantable models (TC-1 cervical cancer expressing Human Papillomavirus antigen E7; and 3LL lung carcinoma overexpressing the self antigen survivin) was shown to significantly reduce the therapeutic vaccine efficacy administered 6 days later from tumor challenge (25). Upon rechallenge of tumor free mice, long term immunological memory was also lost in the absence SA-4-1BBL effect on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. In another study using survivin + SA-4-1BBL vaccine in 3LL model, 100% of tumor eradication was achieved in a prime-boost vaccination strategy. Depletion of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells producing IFN- $\gamma$  1 day prior vaccinations completely compromised therapeutic efficacy while depletion of NK cells had moderate yet noticeable effect on tumor growth. NK cells isolated from immunized mice showed improved killing against YAC-1 target cells *in vitro* (26).

#### SA-4-1BBL adjuvant effect on innate immunity

Switching gears towards innate immunity, SA-4-1BBL's direct or indirect effect on NK cells has been shown to be indispensable for HPV-16 E7 recombinant proteinbased therapeutic vaccine in the TC-1 murine tumor model. Eradication of established tumors was mainly dependent on 4-1BB signaling as C57BL/6.4-1BB knockout  $(C57BL/6.4-1BB^{-/-})$  mice failed to clear the tumors and expired accordingly (27). Activated NK cells have been shown in the literature to express 4-1BB receptor themselves and are involved in the eradication of P815 mastocytoma in vivo although they lack the *in vitro* lysis function upon stimulation with anti-4-1BB monoclonal antibody, suggesting an immuno-regulatory role of NK cells in this case as compared to direct killing and effector functions (28). NK cells isolated from human peripheral blood, activated with IL-2/IL-15 cytokines for 48 hours to upregulate 4-1BB, and incubated with the MCF-7 human breast cancer cell line overexpressing 4-1BBL for additional 12 hours, have been shown to upregulate perforin, granzyme B, and FasL genes without enhancing cellular degranulation nor IFN- $\gamma$  production upon engagement of 4-1BB with 4-1BBL on MCF-7 cells (29).

Dendritic cells (DCs) of the innate immune system on the other hand, produce a variety of cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, and IL-12 upon 4-1BB stimulation (30, 31). SA-4-1BBL not only provides robust immune costimulatory activity in DCs in therapeutic cancer vaccines but also contributes to the delivery of TAAs conjugated through biotin to the streptavidin portion of the molecule (32). DCs in turn engulf the SA-4-1BBL-TAA conjugate and enhance antigen presentation to T cells. TC-1 or 3LL tumor bearing mice showed significant improvement in survival upon administering SA-4-

1BBL-TAA conjugate vaccine on day 6 post-tumor challenge versus administering SA-4-1BBL + TAA without conjugation. The therapeutic efficacy of the vaccine was associated with higher tumor infiltrating CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells to Tregs ratio (32).

Another study conducted in our lab has recently aimed at simultaneous stimulation of innate and adaptive immunity in fighting tumors using a combination of the Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) agonist called monophosphoryl lipid A (MPL) plus SA-4-1BBL. One vaccination with the combination of both adjuvants and HPV E7 protein as TAA resulted in 100% survival in murine TC-1 model. Vaccine formulation containing SA-4-1BBL had better efficacy (~80%) than formulation with MPL alone (~50%) (33).

#### SA-4-1BBL's role in regulatory immunity

SA-4-1BBL has a major impact on regulatory immunity. SA-4-1BBL drives the proliferation of activated Tregs when combined with the cytokine IL-2 while maintaining Tregs' suppressive function (34). Tregs constitutively express the IL-2 and 4-1BB receptors and SA-4-1BBL costimulation further upregulates the expression of both receptors. This regulatory aspect of SA-4-1BBL was shown to overcome autoimmune diseases and prevent graft rejection (34). On the other hand, we showed that SA-4-1BBL without exogenous IL-2 blocks the conversion of conventional CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells into induced Tregs through the production of IFN- $\gamma$  (35). One of the important mechanisms by which tumors evade suppression is the induction of iTregs in the tumor microenvironment and SA-4-1BBL has the ability to block the accumulation of iTregs even in the presence of tumor antigens and TGF- $\beta$  pressure. In the process of exploring the effects of SA-4-1BBL on Tregs, we have observed that Teffs themselves become resistant and refractory

to suppression by Tregs (34, 36), the mechanism of which is yet unknown and will be elucidated in the subsequent chapter of this dissertation.

In summary, 4-1BB signaling has pleiotropic effects in modulating the immune system by acting on all 3 branches: innate, adaptive, and regulatory immunity. These effects are content- and model- dependent and need to be carefully considered when exploiting 4-1BB signaling for the generation of desired immune responses for therapeutic purposes.

#### CHAPTER 2: SA-4-1BBL LIBERATES CONVENTIONAL T CELLS FROM NATURAL T REGULATORY CELLS SUPPRESSION VIA IL-2

#### **Introduction**

CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Tregs comprise a distinct and important cell type that confers peripheral tolerance. Deficiencies in Tregs or their regulatory function are associated with severe autoimmunity in rodents and humans. Their presence or absence has high impact in transplantation as well as tumor settings. They can mediate graft survival, but can also abrogate effector T cells from carrying their killing function in tumor microenvironments (37). Subtypes of Tregs include naturally occurring thymic Tregs (nTregs) that are CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup>, and induced Tregs (iTregs) that are CD4<sup>+</sup> Foxp3<sup>-</sup> but convert into Foxp3<sup>+</sup> upon induction in the periphery. Other subtypes include Tr1 and Th3 iTregs that are Foxp<sup>3</sup> but are specialized in IL-10 and TGF- $\beta$  production (38). Although 4-1BB receptor is constitutively expressed on Tregs in mice, our lab has previously shown that in Teff:Treg co-culture experiments, SA-4-1BBL drives the proliferation of Teffs without altering the suppressive functions of Tregs. Tregs pre-incubated with SA-4-1BBL prior addition to suppression assays did not cease their suppressive function (34). Moreover, cultures with Tregs sorted from C57BL/6. 4-1BB<sup>-/-</sup> mice and incubated with sorted Teffs from wild type C57BL/6 mice in the presence of SA-4-1BBL showed high proliferation of Teffs proving that evasion of suppression is not due to direct engagement of SA-4-1BBL with its receptor on Tregs (36). Combining our

observations together, we hereby shifted our focus to study the direct mode of action of SA-4-1BBL on conventional T cells (Tconvs) and the mechanism(s) underlying the escape from suppression.

#### **Materials and Methods**

#### Mice and reagents

Transgenic C57BL/6.Foxp3<sup>GFP</sup> and wild type C57BL/6 mice were purchased from The Jackson Laboratory. C57BL/6.Foxp3<sup>hCD2</sup> mice (39) and 4-1BB knockout mice (40) were bred and cared for in University of Louisville's SPF-free vivarium in accordance with NIH guidelines. All animal procedures were approved by the University of Louisville's Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee. Antibodies used include anti-CD3 agonistic Ab (clone 145-2C11, BD Pharmingen, Cat# 553058), anti-TGF-β (1,2,3) neutralizing Ab (clone 1D11, homemade), anti-IFN-γ blocking Ab (clone XMG 1.2, homemade), and anti-IL-2 neutralizing Ab (clone S4B6, BD Pharmingen, Cat# 554375). Fluorescein-conjugated Abs to various cell surface markers were obtained commercially: anti-CD4-APC (BD Pharmingen, 553051); anti-CD25-PE (BD Pharmingen, 553866); anti-CD25-PE-Cy7 (eBioscience, 25-0251-82); anti-hCD2-PE (BioLegend, 300208). Where indicated Tconvs or Tregs were stained with 2.5µM CFSE (Invitrogen, C1157). CTLL-2 cell line was obtained from ATCC (TIB-214). Human IL-2, SA-4-1BBL, and SA proteins were produced in our lab according to standard protocols as previously reported (34, 41, 42).

#### **Cell sorting**

Both Tconvs and Tregs were sorted from splenocytes of naive C57BL/6.Foxp3<sup>GFP</sup> mice using BD FACSAria by gating on CD4<sup>+</sup> CD25<sup>-</sup> GFP<sup>-</sup> cells to collect Tconvs and on CD4<sup>+</sup> CD25<sup>+</sup> GFP<sup>+</sup> population to collect Tregs. Tconvs from WT C57BL/6 or Tregs from C57BL/6.Foxp3<sup>hCD2</sup> mice were sorted by gating on CD4<sup>+</sup> CD25<sup>-</sup> to collect Tconvs and CD4<sup>+</sup> CD25<sup>+</sup> to collect Tregs. Sorted populations purity was  $\geq$  99%.

#### **Ex-vivo expansion of Tregs**

In select experiments, Tregs were expanded using our previously described protocol (34). Briefly, 1 x  $10^5$  to 5 x  $10^5$  sorted Tregs were cultured in a 6 well plate in addition to 1 x  $10^6$  irradiated C57BL/6 splenocytes (2000 cGy); anti-CD3 antibody (0.5 µg/ml); SA-4-1BBL (1 µg/ml); IL-2 cytokine (25 IU/ml). Cells were cultured for 4 days at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> after which 1 ml of culture media was displaced with 1 ml fresh MLR media and supplemented with IL-2 (25 IU/ml). On day 7, cells were collected, centrifuged, washed and resuspended in fresh MLR media for additional 3 days with IL-2 only (25 IU/ml). On day 10, cells were washed and rested without IL-2 for two to three days (while checking viability) prior addition to suppression assays. Expanded Tregs maintain their Foxp3 expression as tested by flow cytometry (data not shown) and retain their suppressive functionality.

#### Suppression assays with and without APCs

Freshly sorted Tconvs (2.5 x  $10^4$ ) were cocultured in 96-well U-bottom plates with freshly sorted or expanded Tregs (2.5 x  $10^4$ ) plus irradiated naive C57BL/6 splenocytes

as source of APCs (1 x  $10^5$ , 2000 cGy). Cultures were supplemented with anti-CD3 Ab (0.5 µg/ml), SA-4-1BBL (1 µg/ml), and IL-2 (3 IU/ml) where indicated. In absence of APCs, Tconvs and Tregs were cultured with plate bound anti-CD3 (5 µg/ml), while maintaining the rest of the conditions constant. Coculture plates were incubated for 48 h (37° C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>) and pulsed with 1 µCi/well of [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine (PerkinElmer, Cat# NET027X001MC) for an additional 16 h. Plates were harvested using Tomtec cell harvester and counts per minute (CPMs) were recorded using Wallac Betaplate liquid scintillation counter as a measure of cell proliferation.

#### Cytometric bead array

Th1/Th2/Th17 panel of cytokine beads (BD Biosciences, Cat# 560485) were used to measure IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-17a levels in cell culture supernatants following manufacturer's instructions. Concentrations of the various cytokines were calculated against a standard that runs from 0-5000 pg/ml.

#### **RT-PCR for IL-2 expression**

Tconvs and Tregs were sorted from splenocytes of naive C57BL/6.Foxp3<sup>GFP</sup> mice using BD FACSAria by gating on CD4<sup>+</sup> CD25<sup>-</sup> GFP<sup>-</sup> cells to collect Tconvs and on CD4<sup>+</sup> CD25<sup>+</sup> GFP<sup>+</sup> population to collect Tregs. Cocultures were stimulated with SA-4-1BBL (1  $\mu$ g/ml) and plate-bound anti-CD3 Ab (5  $\mu$ g/ml). Cultures were harvested for total RNA isolation 24 and 48 hours post-stimulation. RNA was converted into cDNA and used for real-time PCR amplification using primers for housekeeping gene glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) and IL-2. Primer sequences (GenScript) were as follows: IL-2 forward 5'-TGA GCA GGA TGG AGA ATT ACA GG-3', reverse 5'-GTC

CAA GTT CAT CTT CTA GGC AC-3'; GAPDH forward 5'-CCA TCA CCA TCT TCC AGG AGC GAG-3', reverse 5'-CAC AGT CTT CTG GGT GGC AGT GAT-3'. Delta-Delta CT values were calculated and normalized to GAPDH.

#### **Removal of SA-4-1BBL and IL-2 from Tconv culture supernatant**

Supernatants were generated from 96 well cultures of (Tconvs + 5  $\mu$ g/ml plate bound anti-CD3 + 1  $\mu$ g/ml SA-4-1BBL) incubated for 48 hours at 37° C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Taking advantage of the 6xHis tag engineered into the SA-4-1BBL molecule, culture supernatants were incubated with CuSO<sub>4</sub>-charged sepharose beads for 15 minutes at room temperature followed by centrifugation and aspiration of the SA-4-1BBL-cleaned supernatant.

IL-2 was removed by incubating supernatants with anti-IL-2 neutralizing antibody ( $20\mu$ g/ml, clone S4B6) to form complexes at  $37^{\circ}$  C for 15-30 minutes. Ab/IL-2 complexes were then removed by incubating with Immobilized Protein G high affinity beads (Thermo Scientific, Cat# 20398). IL-2-cleaned supernatant was tested on CTLL-2 cells that require IL-2 cytokine as a limiting factor for their growth. CTLL-2 cells were plated in U-bottom 96 well plates (5000 cells/50µl + 50µl supernatant cleaned from SA-4-1BBL only as positive control, or cleaned from SA-4-1BBL and IL-2). Cultures were incubated for 28 hours total at  $37^{\circ}$  C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> with addition of [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine for the last 8 hours. Cells were harvested using Tomtec cell harvester and proliferation of CTLL-2 cells was quantified.

#### **Statistical analysis**

Each data point represents the mean  $\pm$  SEM of triplicate wells unless otherwise stated. The statistical significance between data points was estimated with two-tailed Student's *t* test using GraphPad software. A *p* value  $\leq 0.05$  was considered to be statistically significant.

#### **Results**

#### APCs do not contribute to SA-4-1BBL-mediated evasion of Treg suppression

In previously published studies, we have demonstrated that SA-4-1BBL costimulation allows Tconvs to overcome Treg suppression (36). These studies were conducted using Tregs and Tconvs cocultured with APCs from C57BL/6 wild type mice. The 4-1BB receptor is expressed on a subpopulation of DCs and stimulation via this receptor results in the secretion of various cytokines, such as IL-6, IL-12, and TNF- $\alpha$  (30, 31). To assess the potential contribution of signaling in APCs to the observed Tconv evasion of Treg suppression, suppression assays were performed with irradiated splenocytes from wild type as well as 4-1BB KO mice. SA-4-1BBL overcame the suppression of sorted Tconvs cultured by Tregs. More importantly, Tconvs cocultured with 41BB<sup>-/-</sup> APCs showed robust proliferation responses when costimulated with SA-4-1BBL in the absence or presence of Tregs (Fig. 1). These responses were comparable to those generated with wild type APCs.

To further confirm that APCs do not play a role in the Tconv evasion of Treg suppression, the coculture studies were performed in the absence of APCs. Stimulation of Tconvs with plate bound anti-CD3 Ab alone under these culture conditions did not

19

generate a significant proliferative response (Fig. 2). However, costimulation with SA-4-1BBL resulted in robust Tconv proliferation that was refractory to suppression by Tregs. Taken together these data demonstrate that costimulation via 4-1BB receptor expressed on APCs is not involved in SA-4-1BBL-mediated Tconv resistance to suppression by Treg cells.

# $TGF\mathcal{GF-}\beta$ and IFNy do not contribute to SA-4-1BBL-mediated evasion from Treg suppression

TGF- $\beta$  has been shown to play an important role in the generation of Tregs and their suppressor function (43-45). We therefore envisioned that SA-4-1BBL stimulation may overcome the Treg mediated suppression by modulating the function of TGF- $\beta$ . A neutralizing Ab against TGF- $\beta$  at two different doses (8 and 50 µg/ml) did not neutralize Treg suppression nor did it further improve the observed SA-4-1BBL-mediated evasion of Treg suppression (Fig. 3).

It has been demonstrated that T cells in response to T-cell receptor signaling produce an active form of TGF- $\beta$ , which is adsorbed to the cell surface immediate postsecretion (46). Membrane-bound TGF- $\beta$  could act as a mediator for Treg suppression (47). Therefore, to eliminate the possibility that SA-4-1BBL may overcome Treg suppression by modulating the function of membrane-bound TGF- $\beta$ , we sorted Tregs and pre-incubated them with high dose anti-TGF- $\beta$  Ab (50 µg/ml) for 1 hour prior addition to coculture suppression assays. These cells were able to suppress Tconvs and costimulation with SA-4-1BBL was still able to overcome suppression (Fig. 4).

SA-4-1BBL costimulation of Teffs results in their secretion of IFN- $\gamma$ , which blocks TGF- $\beta$  and tumor-mediated conversion of these cells into induced Tregs (35).

20

However, opposite findings show that IFN- $\gamma$  may also contribute to the conversion of Tconvs into peripheral Tregs and improve their suppressive function by upregulating Foxp3 gene expression (48). To study the potential role of this cytokine in the observed SA-4-1BBL-mediated evasion of Treg suppression, we performed suppression assays with a blocking Ab against IFN- $\gamma$  (25 µg/ml). The antibody added to the cocultures did not block the suppression of Tconvs by Tregs, also it provided evidence that IFN- $\gamma$  is not responsible for the evasion of suppression in the presence of SA-4-1BBL (Fig. 5). These observations are consistent with previous findings that IFN- $\gamma$  has no direct effect on natural thymic Treg development and function (49).

# IL-2 is the major cytokine produced in the supernatant of Tconv:Treg cocultures costimulated with SA-4-1BBL

In an attempt to identify potential soluble factors that contribute to the Tconv evasion of Treg suppression, we assessed cytokines generated in coculture supernatants in response to SA-4-1BBL costimulation using cytokine bead array analysis. As shown in (Fig. 6), costimulation of Tconvs with SA-4-1BBL resulted in upregulated secretion of all cytokines tested except IL-17. IL-2 and TNF- $\alpha$  production levels were particularly increased in the 48 hour culture supernatants of Tconvs + SA-4-1BBL. However, the levels of these two cytokines were similar in supernatants harvested from Tconv:Treg cocultures with or without SA-4-1BBL costimulation. This cytokine pattern was not time dependent as 24 hour culture supernatants showed a similar pattern (data not shown).

The presence of APCs and particularly their irradiation may impact overall cytokine production and secretion into the coculture supernatants. Therefore, these studies were performed with sorted Tconvs and Tregs in the absence of APCs. IL-2 stood
out as the highlight cytokine with significant and robust production in supernatants harvested from Tconvs, as well as Tconv:Treg cocultures costimulated with SA-4-1BBL, but not in culture supernatants without SA-4-1BBL costimulation (Fig. 7). The lack of high levels of IL-2 in cultures with irradiated APCs may be due to its non-specific binding or consumption by such cells, or other unknown mechanisms.

We also noticed a significant drop in the levels of IL-2 in Tconv:Treg cocultures stimulated with SA-4-1BBL (Fig. 6 and 7) versus Tconvs + SA-4-1BBL cultures. To test if this is due to IL-2 produced by Tconvs being consumed by Tregs that do not produce significant levels of this cytokine, we performed quantitative RT-PCR to assess the level of IL-2 mRNA under various culture conditions. As shown in Figures 8A and 8B, IL-2 transcript levels were comparable between Tconv and Tonv:Treg cocultures stimulated with SA-41BBL examined at 24 and 48 h time points. Taken together, these data suggest that the reduced levels of IL-2 protein observed in supernatant of Tconv:Treg coculture stimulated with SA-4-1BBL is not due to the diminished IL-2 transcript levels, but possibly because of the consumption of this cytokine by Tregs.

#### IL-2 is necessary and sufficient for Tconvs to overcome Treg suppression

The high levels of IL-2 production in Tconv:Treg cocultures costimulated with SA-4-1BBL has captured our interest to test the role of this cytokine in the evasion of Treg suppression. Culture supernatants from Tconvs + plate-bound anti-CD3 + SA-4-1BBL for 48 h were harvested and depleted for SA-4-1BBL protein using CuSO<sub>4</sub> charged sepharose beads, taking advantage of the 6xHis Tag engineered into the protein for purification purposes. The complete removal of SA-4-1BBL was confirmed by Western blots (Fig. 9). We next subjected this supernatant for removal of IL-2 by first incubating

with an excessive amount of an anti-IL-2 Ab followed by incubation and removal using protein G beads. The lack of IL-2 in culture supernatant was confirmed in a CTLL-2 proliferation assay (Fig. 10). Tconv culture supernatants lacking SA-4-1BBL or both SA-4-1BBL and IL-2 were tested for their ability to overcome Treg suppression. Addition of SA-4-1BBL-free culture supernatant resulted in effective evasion of suppression in Tconv:Treg coculture experiments with (Fig. 11A) or without APCs (Fig. 11B). On the other hand, culture supernatant lacking both SA-4-1BBL and IL-2 was ineffective in overcoming Treg suppression. To further confirm that IL-2 is required for overcoming Treg suppression, Tconv:Treg cocultures were supplemented with recombinant IL-2. Exogenous IL-2 resulted in robust proliferative responses in both Tconv and Tconv:Treg cocultures (Fig. 11A, 11B).

# IL-2-mediated Tconvs evasion of Tregs suppression is independent of Tregs proliferative state

In environments where IL-2 is not a limiting factor, both Teffs and Tregs are known to proliferate upon primary stimulation such as during inflammatory insults (50). A previous publication by our group also indicates that SA-4-1BBL causes the proliferation of both Teffs and to a lower extent Tregs (34). Putting one and two together we have stained either Tconvs sorted from C57BL/6 or Tregs sorted from C57BL/6.Foxp3<sup>hCD2</sup> splenocytes with CFSE prior addition to suppression assays. The CFSE labeled Tconvs proliferated by 67.5% with SA-4-1BBL and by 64.1% in the presence of Tregs and SA-4-1BBL. The CFSE labeled Tregs on the other hand proliferated by 11.1% with SA-4-1BBL and by 27.3% in the presence of Teffs and SA-4-1BBL (Fig. 12). One might claim here that when Tregs are in an active proliferative state they might lose their suppressive capacity and the Tconvs can evade and over-proliferate. In fact, Tregs at their anergic non-proliferative state are shown to be better suppressors (51).

To eliminate the contribution of Treg proliferation to the observed evasion of suppression achieved by SA-4-1BBL, we irradiated sorted-expanded Tregs with 2000 cGy before utilizing them in suppression assays. The irradiated Tregs did not proliferate upon addition of exogenous IL-2 or SA-4-1BBL and they still maintained their suppressive function (Fig. 13). More interestingly, when we added SA-4-1BBL to the cocultures in the presence of irradiated Tregs, Tconvs were still able to proliferate significantly and escape the suppressive non-proliferative Tregs, which gives us further confirmation that the mechanism is through IL-2 acting directly on Tconvs in an autocrine fashion.

### **Discussion**

Our first experiment aimed at reproducing the evasion of suppression data from previous studies in the lab in the presence and absence of SA-4-1BBL in coculture suppression assays (36), only this time we have used splenocytes from  $41BB^{-/-}$  mice as source of irradiated APCs along with soluble anti-CD3. The reason was to eliminate any interference of 4-1BB receptor on the surface of APCs binding with SA-4-1BBL and causing the leakage of cytokines such as IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-15, despite irradiation. Sorted Tconvs cultured with  $41BB^{-/-}$  APCs proliferated successfully in the presence of SA-4-1BBL and were able to escape suppression when co-cultured with Tregs. The finding further emphasizes the direct effect of SA-4-1BBL on Tconvs. More Importantly,

SA-4-1BBL conferred Tconv resistant to Treg suppression in the complete absence of APCs.

In an attempt to understand the mechanism of evasion, we initially hypothesized that if Tregs suppress primarily through TGF- $\beta$ , SA-4-1BBL might be downregulating TGF- $\beta$  receptor II on Tconvs, hence desensitizing them to suppression (52). Adding anti-TGF- $\beta$  neutralizing antibody to the specified cultures (8 µg/ml and 50 µg/ml) did not block the suppression of Tregs and did not improve the evasion levels noticeably. These findings are in accordance with published studies demonstrating that thymically derived (t)Tregs suppress through cell-to-cell contact without a significant contribution by TGF- $\beta$ (51, 53). Signaling via 4-1BB receptor on T cells results in IFN- $\gamma$  production that has the ability to block TGF- $\beta$  and tumor-mediated conversion of Tconvs into iTregs (35). On the other hand, IFN- $\gamma$  contributes to the conversion of Tconvs into iTregs and enhances their suppressive function through upregulation of the forkhead box P3 (48). However, these divergent observations are conducted under different experimental setups as the first study has used TGF- $\beta$  and antigen stimulation-dependent conversion, while the second study has utilized antigen- and a TGF- $\beta$ -independent conversion setting. In the present study, a blocking Ab to IFN- $\gamma$  (25 µg/ml) neither prevented Treg suppression in the absence of SA-4-1BBL, nor altered SA-4-1BBL-mediated evasion of suppression. Our data supports previous findings stating that IFN- $\gamma$  has no direct effect on (t)Tregs development and function (49).

IL-4 may be another cytokine yet that regulates the balance between Teffs and Tregs in a twofold fashion: acting on Teffs and activating STAT 6 pathway on one hand making Teffs resistant to suppression (54, 55), or on the other hand IL-4 may act on

Tregs and activate GATA 3 that binds in turn to Foxp3 and blocks it (56, 57). The same studies have reported that the effect of IL-4 is pronounced in iTregs and not nTregs in general, which dramatically drops the odds of IL-4 involvement in our study since we have sorted nTregs from naïve mice that are Foxp3<sup>+</sup>.

IL-2 expressed by Tconvs is required and sufficient for the ability of these cells to evade Treg suppression under the tested coculture conditions. First, IL-2 was the major cytokine upregulated in cocultures stimulated with SA-4-BBL in the absence of APCs. Second, supernatant from SA-4-1BBL-stimulated cultures was effective in overcoming Treg suppression, and removal of IL-2 nullified this effect. Third, exogenous recombinant IL-2 alone was effective in overcoming Treg suppression. Competition for IL-2 has been shown to be an important mechanism that dictates the functional balance between Tconvs and Tregs. The receptor for IL-2 is a trimeric complex consisting of IL-2Rα (CD25), IL-2Rβ (CD122), and IL-2Rγ (CD132). The high affinity receptor CD25 is constitutively expressed on nTregs while it is upregulated upon induction on Teffs. IL-2 is also known to be a growth factor for Tregs (58), more specifically IL-2 stabilizes the expression of Foxp3 in iTregs in the presence of TGF- $\beta$  (59). Our observation is explained by the fact that in the presence of weak signals such as anti-CD3 and low levels of IL-2, Tregs that constitutively express CD25 drain all the IL-2 and deprive the Tconvs from surviving and proliferating (60, 61). On the other hand, a strong costimulatory molecule such as SA-4-1BBL that provides a potent secondary signal, generates an abundance of IL-2 and upregulates CD25 on Tconvs allowing them to break from suppression. Indeed, a recent study using an *in vivo* imaging approach has demonstrated that autoantigen-driven Treg clustering with Tconvs on the surface of DCs and

competition for IL-2 expressed by Tconvs is a major mechanism of autoimmune suppression (62). A similar IL-2 competition-based suppressive mechanism has recently been reported for NK cells (63).

The present study demonstrating that SA-4-1BBL targets Tconvs directly for evasion of Treg suppression is in conflict with another study conducted with agonistic 4-1BB antibody (64). The authors in the latter state that anti-4-1BB Ab impedes the suppressive function of Tregs by significantly downregulating the expression of IL-9 in these cells. They also demonstrate that the combination treatment with CpG-ODN adjuvant plus anti-IL-9 neutralizing antibody *in vivo* causes tumor rejection in the BALBneuT and MUC-1 models (64). However, this study did not provide direct evidence demonstrating that Tregs are the direct target of agonistic Abs to 4-1BB. The in vitro evasion of suppression data was obtained using Tconv:Treg cocultures similar to ours. Also, this study failed to demonstrate the direct role of IL-9 on Treg suppressive function in vitro. In contrast, our previous study using Tconvs and Tregs from wild type and 4-1BB KO mice provided direct evidence for Tconvs, but not Tregs, being the target of SA-4-1BBL for the observed evasion of suppression (36).

In conclusion, our findings that excessive production of IL-2 by Tconvs in response to SA-4-1BBL costimulation is both necessary and sufficient in overcoming Treg suppression may have significant implications for treatment of diseases associated with an imbalance between Tconvs and Tregs, such as cancer. High dose IL-2 immunotherapy against tumors as well as low dose in combination with chemotherapy or IFN- $\alpha$  treatment has been the subject of several clinical studies since 1980s. The most pronounced effects were noticed in melanoma and renal cell carcinoma patients (65). The

toxicity caveat associated with the treatment regimen and administration of exogenous IL-2 has still yet to be overcome (66). SA-4-1BBL that safely drives the endogenous production of IL-2 from Teffs could serve as a great alternative without overdosing the system with excessive amounts of the cytokine.

## CHAPTER 3: SA-4-1BBL AS AN IMMUNE ADJUVANT FOR THE GENERATION OF PROTECTIVE INNATE AND ADAPTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES AGAINST TUMORS

### **Introduction**

Previous studies in our laboratory have demonstrated that SA-4-1BBL as an adjuvant component of TAA-based subunit vaccine generates robust CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses with therapeutic efficacy in various tumor models (27, 36). The SA component of the molecule is a bacterial antigen extracted from *Streptomyces avidinii* and has the potential to generate antibodies following repeated injections. The presence of anti-SA antibodies (Abs) may play a dual role by enhancing the efficacy of the vaccine through crosslinking the SA-4-1BBL molecules, hence leading to better receptor clustering and signaling. On the other hand, anti-SA Abs may bind and neutralize the effect of the SA-4-1BBL molecule by blocking its interaction with 4-1BB or accelerating its *in vivo* clearance.

In order to understand the positive or negative side effects of antibodies produced against vaccine immunogens, it is best to refer to studies concerning anti-drug antibodies (ADAs) against persistent biologics and protein treatments. For example, patients on adalimumab treatment for rheumatoid arthritis showed lower response rates in the presence of anti-adalimumab Abs, which directly correlated to lower levels of the adalimumab drug in their sera (67). Yet another study explored the effect of ADAs against infliximab, etanercept, adalimumab and ustekinumab in treated patients with psoriasis (68). The presence of anti-infliximab and anti- adalimumab Abs was associated with lower serum drug concentrations, while anti-etanercept Abs had no apparent effect. Anti-ustekinumab antibodies played both positive and negative roles against psoriasis in separate studies. Therefore, a review of data shows that not all cases positive for ADAs have a loss of drug efficacy or cause hypersensitivity reactions.

In this particular chapter, we explore the solo role of SA-4-1BBL costimulatory molecule and its impact on the immune system. The SA portion is a biological agent that carries several epitopes that can be recognized by T and B cells. In some studies it is suggested to reduce the immunogenicity of SA through the concomitant administration of methotrexate, or the use of mutated forms of the de-immunized protein with less antigenic epitopes, while maintaining tetramer forming and biotin binding capacities of the molecule (69, 70). Other studies exploit the use of immunogenic SA to the advantage of vaccine development and treatment. For example, vaccination with soluble tumor proteins conjugated to SA has been shown to be effective in the 9L rat glioma model (71). In that study, antibodies against SA were detected in the immunized rats. However, Ab levels did not correlate with the anti-tumor response. Similarly, we show below that pre-treating mice with SA-4-1BBL protects against subsequent tumor challenges without interfering in post-tumor vaccine outcomes and without contribution from anti-SA antibodies. An insight into the mechanism of action of SA-4-1BBL and its role in antitumor immunity is further demonstrated and discussed in this chapter.

### Materials and Methods

#### Mice

C57BL/6 mice were purchased from The Jackson Laboratory. C57BL/6.4-1BB knockout mice (40) and 4C mice (72) were bred and cared for in a University of Louisville specific pathogen-free animal facility in accordance with NIH guidelines. All animal procedures were approved by the University of Louisville's IACUC.

## **Antibodies and Reagents**

Antibodies used include anti-CD3 agonistic Ab (clone 145-2C11, BD Pharmingen, Cat# 553058). Fluorescent-conjugated Abs to various cell surface markers were obtained commercially: anti-CD3-V500 (BD Horizon 560771); anti-CD4-Alexa700 (BD Pharmingen 557956); anti-CD8-APC-Cy7 (BD Pharmingen 557654); anti-NK1.1-PE (BD Pharmingen 553165); anti-CD19-APC (BD Pharmingen 550992); anti-CD44-APC (eBioscience 17-0441-83); anti-CD62L-PerCp-Cy5.5 (eBioscience 45-0621-82). Anti-4-1BB agonistic Ab (clone 3H3) was produced and purified in our Lab. 500 µg/mouse of depletion antibodies were injected i.p. in specified experiments including anti-CD4 Ab (clone GK1.5); anti-NK1.1 Ab (clone PK 136); anti-CD8 Ab (clone 53.6.72); and anti-CD20 Ab 200 µg/mouse (clone 5D2).

SA-4-1BBL and SA proteins were produced in our lab according to standard protocols as previously reported (34, 41, 42). TC-1 tumor cell line was obtained from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC).

#### Immunization strategy and tumor challenge

Several groups of mice were challenged subcutaneously (s.c.) with 2 shots of SA-4-1BBL ( $25 \mu g$ ) on days 0 and 14. Unless specified, mice were injected two weeks later s.c. with 1 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells of TC-1 tumor cell line. TC-1 is originally derived from lung epithelial cells of C57BL/6 mice and transfected to express the human papillomavirus HPV-E6 and E7 proteins. In certain groups, mice also received post tumor challenge vaccination with 50  $\mu g$  E7-P1 peptide (RAHYNIVTF) + 25  $\mu g$  SA-4-1BBL (Fig. 14). Tumors were monitored and measured twice a week using calipers over a period of 60 days or until tumor average diameter reaches its endpoint (12 mm). In select experiments, Lewis Lung Carcinoma (LLC) cell line was used instead of TC-1. For long term memory studies, tumor free mice at the experimental endpoint were re-challenged with 1 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells of TC-1 and monitored for at least additional 60 days.

#### Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) for serum antibodies and subtyping

Blood was collected and serum isolated from different groups of mice 1 week after the  $2^{nd}$  immunization with SA-4-1BBL and at experimental end points. ELISA plates were coated overnight with 50 ng of either SA-4-1BBL or SA proteins. Next day plates were washed, blocked with milk, and incubated with serial dilutions of specified sera for 1.5 hours at room temperature. After that, secondary antibodies conjugated to horseradish peroxidase enzyme (HRP) were added for 1 hour to measure for total IgG titers as well as several isotypes including IgG1, IgG2b, IgG2c, IgG3, IgM, and IgA. Plates were incubated for 30 min with TMB substrate (BD Biosciences, Cat#555214), reaction was stopped with 2N H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> and plates were read for colorimetric reaction at 450 nm.

#### Adoptive serum transfer

Sera collected on Day 27 from SA-4-1BBL-immunized mice (25  $\mu$ g on days 0 and 14 s.c.) were adoptively transferred to naïve C57BL/6 mice (200  $\mu$ l i.v.) 24 hours prior to TC-1 tumor challenge (1 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells s.c.). Sera antibody titers were tested by ELISA against SA prior to transfer. Tumor diameters were measured twice a week using calipers over a period of 60 days or until tumor average diameter reaches its endpoint (12 mm).

## **Anti-CD3 proliferation assay**

C57BL/6 splenocytes (2 x  $10^5$  cells/well) were cultured in 96-well U-bottom plates and stimulated with anti-CD3 agonistic antibody (0.025 µg/ml) and serially diluted doses of SA-4-1BBL in the presence or absence of mice serum pre-immunized twice with 25 µg of SA-4-1BBL. Cultures were incubated for 48 h and pulsed with [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine for an additional 16 h. Plates were harvested with Tomtec Cell Harvester and proliferative counts were measured with a Beta plate counter and reported as CPM.

#### Flow cytometry and phenotyping

Spleens and draining lymph nodes from naïve, 12.5  $\mu$ g SA + 100  $\mu$ g 3H3 immunized, or 25  $\mu$ g SA-4-1BBL immunized C57BL/6 mice were harvested at different time points and processed into single cell suspensions. One million cells of each sample were stained with fluorescent-conjugated antibodies with corresponding compensation and isotype controls for flow cytometry. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were gated on CD3<sup>+</sup> population. B cells were gated on CD19<sup>+</sup>, NK cells were gated on CD3<sup>-</sup> and NK1.1<sup>+</sup>. NKT cells were gated on CD3<sup>+</sup> and NK1.1<sup>+</sup>. Cell percentages as well as absolute cell numbers were calculated and reported. For memory phenotyping, CD3<sup>+</sup> CD62L<sup>lo</sup> CD44<sup>hi</sup> T cells were characterized as T-effector memory, while CD3<sup>+</sup> CD62L<sup>hi</sup> CD44<sup>hi</sup> were characterized as T-central memory.

## **Statistics**

At experimental end points, Kaplan-Meier survival curves were graphed and log-rank statistical method was applied between groups using GraphPad software, with  $p \le 0.05$  considered significant.

## **Results**

## Streptavidin portion of SA-4-1BBL is immunogenic

To assess the immunogenicity of SA-4-1BBL, a group of C57BL/6 mice (Group 1) was immunized twice with 25  $\mu$ g of SA-4-1BBL via s.c. injection on days 0 and 14. Blood was withdrawn and isolated serum was tested by ELISA for humoral responses one week before TC-1 tumor challenge, one week after tumor challenge, and at experimental endpoint (Fig. 14). ELISA plates pre-coated with SA-4-1BBL (Fig. 15) or SA (data not shown) had comparable total IgG titers. Serum antibody titers were positive on day 21 (4 out of 5 animals), slightly elevated on day 34 (5 out of 5), then slightly reduced on day 90 (Fig. 15). A second group of mice (Group 2) was treated with the same regimen, except that this group also received a subunit vaccine consisting of a peptide (P1) representing the dominant CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell epitope for HPV E7 antigen and SA-4-1BBL on day 36. Antibody titers were tested positive on day 21 (2 out of 5 animals), elevated on day 34 (5 out of 5), then slightly reduced on day 34 (5 out of 5), then slightly reduced on day 21 (2 out of 5 animals),

We next subtyped the Abs to assess the nature of immune responses generated. IgG1 isotype is usually indicative of Th2 responses while IgG2a is associated with Th1 responses (73). IgM is mainly upregulated during primary immune responses and undergoes class switching during secondary responses. T-helper independent antibody production on the other hand favors the IgG3 subtype. Subtyping ELISA for group 1 on days 21 and 90 (Fig. 16) revealed IgG1 and IgM to be the major isotypes upregulated upon SA-4-1BBL immunization.

The positive humoral immune response led us to test if SA also generates CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell responses. Mice were immunized once with SA-4-1BBL. Seven days later spleens from naïve as well as immunized mice were harvested, processed, and cultured in vitro for 48 hours in the presence or absence of SA stimulation. Cultures were pulsed with <sup>3</sup>[H]-thymidine for additional 16 hours and CPMs were recorded. SA was capable of generating more than 3 fold T cell proliferative responses in SA-4-1BBL immunized cultures as compared to naïve background (Fig. 17).

## Anti-SA Abs do not negatively impact the costimulatory function of SA-4-1BBL *in vitro* and *in vivo*

To test if anti-SA antibodies hinder or augment the costimulatory function of the SA-4-1BBL molecule, we conducted an *in vitro* proliferation assay with SA-4-1BBL costimulation-driven expansion of T cells as a read out. In brief, naïve C57BL/6 splenocytes were stimulated with the agonistic anti-CD3 Ab in the presence of SA-4-1BBL incubated with naïve (set 1) or pre-immunized (set 2) serum (Fig. 18). The pre-immunized serum containing anti-SA antibodies did not alter the ability of SA-4-1BBL to deliver its costimulatory signal, as set 2 splenocytes proliferated as efficiently as set 1 *in vitro*.

Following the experimental design demonstrated in Figure 14, we assessed if the *in vivo*-generated anti-SA antibodies, produced by repeated injections with SA-4-1BBL, might modify the post-tumor vaccination outcome with the E7 peptide-based vaccine in the transplantable TC-1 tumor model. As depicted in the survival curve in Figure 19, administering SA-4-1BBL twice not only left the post-tumor vaccine efficacy intact, but also induced 100% tumor protection by itself up to 70 days after tumor challenge.

# Pretreatment with SA-4-1BBL generates a prolonged window of immune responses against TC-1 tumor

In order to understand the dynamics of the SA-4-1BBL anti-tumor immune response observed in Figure 19, we next performed extensive time-course preimmunization studies in C57BL/6 mice receiving TC-1 tumors at different time points after prime or prime/boost immunizations with SA-4-1BBL. As shown in Fig. 20A and 20B, 1 shot of SA-4-1BBL, 1 day later or 1 week later TC-1 challenge protocols did not confer any tumor protectivity, suggesting that immediate innate immune response alone is not sufficient. On the other hand, administering TC-1 two weeks after SA-4-1BBL immunization, showed around 40% survival (Fig. 20C), which provides enough time for adaptive immunity to kick in.

In a second set of studies, we observed 40% survival with 2 shots of SA-4-1BBL, 1 day later TC-1 challenge (Fig. 21A); 100% survival with 2 shots of SA-4-1BBL, 1 week later TC-1 (Fig. 21B); 100% survival and 80% survival were recorded with 2 shots of SA-4-1BBL, 4 weeks and 8 weeks later TC-1 injection respectively (Fig. 22A); but we noticed a significant drop in survival for the 2 shots SA-4-1BBL, 12 weeks later TC-1 challenged group (Fig. 22B).

## SA-4-1BBL generates long-term immune memory against TC-1

Our study design to test for protection against TC-1 recurrences was as follows: naïve C57BL/6 mice were immunized twice with SA-4-1BBL (2 weeks apart), followed by 1<sup>st</sup> TC-1 tumor cells challenge 2 weeks after the second immunization. Mice were monitored for a period of 60 days after 1<sup>st</sup> tumor injection. At the end of the 60 days, tumor free mice were rechallenged with a 2<sup>nd</sup> shot of TC-1 tumor cells and monitored for another 80 days (Fig. 23). As shown, pre-immunization with SA-4-1BBL alone significantly delayed the onset and growth rate of tumors after 2<sup>nd</sup> TC-1 challenge, hence establishing a long term memory effect. Pre-immunization + post-tumor vaccination group establishes a different type of memory that is specifically directed towards E7-P1 tumor antigen and is mediated through IFN- $\gamma$  and CD8 cells (27) where we clearly obtain 60% survival even after 80 days from 2<sup>nd</sup> tumor challenge (Fig. 23).

Phenotyping of spleens (spls) and draining lymph nodes (dLNs) for the SA-4-1BBL pre-immunized group 60 days post-tumor injection revealed a significant increase in the CD4<sup>+</sup> T effector memory compartment both in spls and dLNs. In addition, the CD4<sup>+</sup> T central memory compartment was elevated in the draining lymph nodes of these mice (Fig. 24).

#### The protective effect of pretreatment with SA-4-1BBL is tumor-type independent

We hypothesized that since the SA-4-1BBL-generated immune response was independent from tumor specific antigens, then the type of the transplantable tumor used would not affect the outcome. To test this, C57BL/6 mice were immunized twice with 25 µg SA-4-1BBL (2 weeks apart), followed by Lewis Lung Carcinoma (LLC) or TC-1

tumor challenge 2 weeks after the 2<sup>nd</sup> immunization. Indeed, pre-immunization with SA-4-1BBL alone showed significant protection against LLC relative to TC-1 (Fig. 25).

## Anti-SA Abs do not play a role in the protective effect of pretreatment with SA-4-1BBL against TC-1 tumor

Humoral immunity has been shown to play a role in the efficacy of various cancer immunotherapies. Antibodies can have a direct effect on the tumor by recognizing and binding to surface antigens, or by helping antigen-presentation and processing by APCs through opsonization, thereby augmenting downstream adaptive immune responses. Given the positive titers of SA-Abs in the pretreatment setting, we asked if such Abs can contribute to the protective effect we observe against TC-1 tumors. Towards this goal, sera were collected on day 27 from SA-4-1BBL immunized mice (25µg on days 0 and 14) and adoptively transferred into naïve C57BL/6 mice (200 µl/mouse) 24 hours prior to TC-1 tumor challenge. Anti-SA Abs in adoptively transferred sera did not show any significant protection and all the recipient mice expired similar to TC-1 control (Fig. 26).

# Protective effect of SA-4-1BBL against tumor involves a cross-talk between NK and $\text{CD4}^{\scriptscriptstyle+}\,\text{T}$ cells

The lack of a positive effect of anti-SA Abs on tumor protection led us to hypothesize that protection involves cellular immunity. In search for target effector cells, and in the light of our previous findings about the role of NK cells in tumor protection (27), we conducted 2 sets of NK depletion studies with reference to Figure 14 design. In the first set, NK cells were depleted with anti-mouse NK1.1 Ab 1 day prior to each immunization with SA-4-1BBL (days -1 and 13). In the second set, NK cells were depleted once 1 day before TC-1 tumor challenge (day 27). Mice were monitored for additional 60 days after tumor injection and survival assessed at the experimental endpoints (Fig. 27). In both sets of experiments, depletion of NK cells significantly compromised SA-4-1BBL efficacy against TC-1 tumors.

In the same fashion, CD4 cells were depleted using anti-CD4 Ab during 2 distinct phases. The initiation phase covers the first 27 days before TC-1 challenge where CD4 cells were depleted 1 day prior to immunizations with SA-4-1BBL (Fig. 28), and the effector phase covers the 60 day period after TC-1 challenge where CD4 cells were depleted 1 day before TC-1 injection (Fig. 29). In both phases, the presence of CD4 cells was critical in driving and maintaining the SA-4-1BBL-mediated anti-tumor effect. Surprisingly, depletion of CD8 cells 1 day prior to SA-4-1BBL immunizations did not abrogate the anti-tumor effect (Fig. 28).

In order to discount any role of B cells or contribution from antibodies in the observed SA-4-1BBL-mediated anti-tumor immunity, we depleted B cells with an anti-CD20 antibody during the initiation phase (1 day before SA-4-1BBL immunizations). In the absence of B cells, SA-4-1BBL still induced 100% survival against TC-1 (Fig. 30), showing the lack of dependence on B cells and anti-SA antibodies.

## CD4 cells should recognize SA for optimal anti-tumor protectivity

To further confirm the importance of the CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell responses to the observed protective effect of SA-4-1BBL pretreatment, we used the 4C T-cell receptor transgenic mice where 99% of the CD4 T cells express the v $\beta$ 13 chain and exclusively recognize allogeneic Balb/c MHC class II antigen. Due to this specificity, these mice should not recognize SA upon SA-4-1BBL immunization. Indeed, pre-immunization with SA-4-1BBL was futile in these mice and tumor protectivity against TC-1 was lost (Fig. 31), although we noticed a non-significant delay in tumors expiration as compared to 4C controls injected with TC-1 alone. We also noticed attenuated T cell proliferation in 4C mice first immunized with SA-4-1BBL for 7 days, followed by stimulation *in vitro* with SA antigen, as compared to wild type C57BL/6 mice (Fig. 32). On the other hand, this minimal recognition of SA in 4C mice was sufficient to generate anti-SA antibodies (Fig. 33), which further confirmed our previous observation that antibodies themselves are not protective, as all mice expired from tumor burden. Sera collected from SA-4-1BBL-immunized 4C mice was subjected to subtyping ELISA resulting in detection of high levels of IgM and IgG1 isotypes and low levels of IgG2b and IgG2c as compared to immunized B6 control (Fig. 34).

# The anti-tumor effect of SA-4-1BBL is a unique property of this molecule and is not achieved using agonistic Ab to the receptor

We have previously shown qualitative and quantitative difference between SA-41BBL and agonistic Ab to 4-1BB (23). We therefore tested if the anti-tumor protection of SA-4-1BBL is a unique property of this molecule or it can be extended to any agonist of 4-1BB receptor. Different groups of C57BL/6 mice were immunized twice with either SA alone (12.5  $\mu$ g), 3H3 alone (100  $\mu$ g), SA + 3H3, or SA-4-1BBL (25  $\mu$ g), followed by TC-1 challenge 2 weeks after the 2<sup>nd</sup> immunization. Pre-immunization with 3H3 alone, SA alone, or with SA + 3H3 did not result in any tumor protection compared to the TC-1 control group (Fig. 35). On the other hand, pre-immunization with SA-4-1BBL has demonstrated a unique attribute in rejecting subsequently challenged tumors by reaching 80 to 100% survival.

Lymphocyte percentages and absolute cell number analysis in spleens of mice immunized twice with SA + 3H3 vs. SA-4-1BBL showed a significant reduction in NK cells in the SA + 3H3 group (Figs. 36, 37). This could be a direct effect of 3H3 on NK cells since they express the 4-1BB receptor, or it could be the result of 3H3 blocking the function of a helper cell population providing assistance to NK cells such as CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. On the other hand, analysis of draining lymph nodes of the immunized mice showed reduced percentages of NK cells but not absolute cell numbers in the SA + 3H3 treated group (Figs. 38, 39). This observation could be attributed to the toxicity and lymphadenopathy associated with 3H3 treatment, since the lymph nodes harvested were significantly larger in size and had greater total cell counts as compared to the SA-4-1BBL treated group (data not shown).

Moreover, we noticed a shutdown in anti-SA antibody production in the group immunized with SA + 3H3 twice (Fig. 40). Sera was collected on day 21 (1 week after  $2^{nd}$  immunization) and at tumor endpoints, and was subjected to ELISA. We have previously demonstrated in this chapter that the lack of anti-SA antibodies has no effect on tumor rejection, which suggests a direct negative role of 3H3 on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in this case.

### **Discussion**

Our hypothesis was that, since SA portion of SA-4-1BBL is a foreign bacterial antigen, repeated immunizations with SA-4-1BBL might generate desirable or nondesirable immune responses affecting the overall efficacy of the therapeutic anti-tumor vaccine. Indeed, immunizations with SA-4-1BBL generated anti-SA antibodies detected in mice sera over a period of 90 days. We initially thought that these antibodies might be able to activate NK cells through antibody-mediated cell cytotoxicity (ADCC) leading to tumor eradication. Ideally, for that to take place the tumors should express SA antigen. Upon testing TC-1 tumor lysates by Western blotting, SA protein was not detected (data not shown), although we cannot exclude the possibility of cross-reactivity occurring with another tumor-associated protein that resembles SA. Antibodies on the other hand may also play a negative role, since they may be recruited by the tumor to mask itself and evade immunity. Anti-SA antibodies may also potentially bind to the SA-4-1BBL molecule hindering its efficacy or neutralizing its effect. Our data here show that anti-SA Abs do not have an effect on the costimulatory function of the SA-4-1BBL molecule either in vitro or in vivo.

Based on our previous work, vaccination with E7 + SA-4-1BBL had ~70% therapeutic efficacy in the TC-1 model (27). Therefore, the observed 100% therapeutic efficacy against TC-1 tumor with the subunit vaccine in the SA-4-1BBL pretreatment setting was surprising (Fig. 19), and led us to further test the immune responses generated with SA-4-1BBL treatment alone. One shot of SA-4-1BBL, one day or one week later TC-1 challenge, did not show any anti-tumor effect suggesting that initial innate immune responses alone are not sufficient. Two shots of SA-4-1BBL treatment regimen, followed

by TC-1 challenge one, two, four, or eight weeks afterwards showed full anti-tumor protection. This prolonged SA-4-1BBL effect suggests the involvement of adaptive immunity which can further sustain innate immune activity.

Mechanistic studies aiming at identifying effector immune cells involved in the observed SA-4-1BBL protection were conducted. Inasmuch as our previous studies have demonstrated the critical role of  $CD8^+$  T cells in vaccine efficacy (26), we depleted these cells one day before pretreatments with SA-4-1BBL followed by TC-1 tumor challenge after two weeks. Immunized mice suppressed tumor growth, discounting the potential involvement of CD8 cells. The interplay between NK cells and CD4 cells was proven critical for maintaining a prolonged effect against tumors as shown by the depletion studies. During the initiation phase, SA-4-1BBL may be acting on NK cells that express 4-1BB receptor on their cell surface (28), CD4<sup>+</sup> T conventional cells, or on both cell types simultaneously. After tumor challenge and during effector phase, the presence of CD4 cells proved essential for maintaining the anti-tumor effect observed. In addition to that, SA-4-1BBL's effect was not directed towards B cells, as depletion of such cells before immunizations did not interfere in protection from tumor. The later observation further confirmed that anti-SA antibodies generated by plasma cells do not play a role. Adoptive serum transfer of SA-4-1BBL-immunized sera to naïve mice prior to tumor challenge strongly suggests a lack of antibody protectivity.

Our data indicate that pretreatment of mice with SA-4-1BBL chimeric protein establishes a communication bridge between NK and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. To further test the hypothesis, we used 4C TCR transgenic mice pre-immunized twice with SA-4-1BBL prior to TC-1 tumor challenge. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in these mice did not recognize, or at least

did not optimally recognize SA as antigen; hence all mice expired due to tumor burden despite the presence of NK cells and treatment with SA-4-1BBL. It is important here to recall that 4-1BB expression on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells is inducible and requires an initial signal, apparently provided by SA in this case, to be upregulated and to deliver effective costimulatory signals. The importance of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells shown here is in agreement with our therapeutic vaccine data published earlier emphasizing the effect of SA-4-1BBL on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (25). Depletion of CD4 cells one day before tumor challenge resulted in compromised vaccine efficacy delivered after six days, and depletion of CD4 cells one day before vaccine led to loss of long-term immunological memory against Lewis lung carcinoma (25).

Several studies in the literature suggest IL-2 cytokine to be fundamental for CD4-NK communication in overcoming tumors and fighting infectious microbes. HIV-1 viral infection provides a good example, where CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell numbers are compromised along with their IL-2 production, leading to NK cells anergy and irresponsiveness to infection (74). In the same study, subjects immunized with HIV-1 subunit vaccine showed increased IL-2 production by Gp120-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells associated with higher IFN- $\gamma$ levels produced by NK cells (74). In another study conducted in CD8  $\alpha$ -chain KO mice, collaboration between CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and NK cells was critical in fighting B16 melanoma tumors upon delivery of non-antigen-loaded immature dendritic cell vaccine (75). Another clinically relevant report demonstrated that CD56<sup>bright</sup> NK cells isolated from human subjects constitutively express the high-affinity IL-2 receptor. These NK cells produced higher levels of IFN- $\gamma$  when cocultured with CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells producing IL-2 cytokine upon activation with tetanus toxoid (76). Moreover, human NK cells activated by IL-2 and NKG2D receptor or CD16 were shown to upregulate OX40L expression on their surface, costimulating CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells expressing OX40 to produce IFN- $\gamma$  (77). In the dLNs of mice newly infected with *Leishmania major* parasite, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were shown to directly activate NK cells through the production of IL-2 or indirectly through the regulation of IL-12 secretion by dendritic cells (78). The cross-talk between innate and adaptive immunity through IL-2 was also emphasized in a malaria infection setting with special focus on NK and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells interacting together in an MHC class II-dependent manner (79).

Killer Eomes<sup>+</sup> KLRG1<sup>+</sup> CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (17), capable of producing granzymes and fighting melanoma cells, don't seem to be involved in SA-4-1BBL's anti-tumor effect. While conducting our pre-immunization mechanistic studies, we depleted NK cells 1 day before TC-1 while leaving CD4 cells intact and subject to activation by SA-4-1BBL. Regardless of the presence of any killer CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells during priming and effector phases, the lack of NK cells voided SA-4-1BBL's effect and all mice expired.

In this study we recognized and established the unique anti-tumor property of the SA-4-1BBL molecule, not achieved otherwise using agonistic Ab to the receptor. In our hands, anti-tumor protection was lost when mice were immunized with SA + 3H3. We also observed the shutdown of antibody production against SA in the presence of 3H3. Our observation is in accordance with published literature suggesting that monoclonal agonistic antibodies against 4-1BB can block antibody production by B cells, a method used in the treatment of autoimmune diseases such as Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) and Graft-versus-host disease (GVHD) (80, 81). The mechanism seems to be mediated by inducing anergy of helper T cells, which in turn cease to provide help to B

cells, halting their antibody production (82). Moreover, we have also noticed a reduction in the percentages and absolute cell numbers of NK cells in mice pretreated with SA + 3H3, but not SA-4-1BBL. This may be due to the indirect deleterious effect of 3H3 on  $CD4^+$  T helper functions, or it may be due to direct engagement of 3H3 with its receptor on NK cells. The effect of agonistic antibodies to 4-1BB on NK cells is controversial in the literature. Some of the studies reporting positive aspects include human NK cells activated by trastuzumab in breast cancer treatment which upregulated 4-1BB, and further stimulation with anti-4-1BB Ab killed breast cancer cells (83). Similarly, the antilymphoma activity of rituximab was improved by stimulation of NK cells with anti-4-1BB monoclonal antibody (84). Others also reported regulatory aspects of NK cells in anti-tumor settings without having cytolytic activity (85). In that study, CD137stimulated helper NK cells successfully proliferated and produced IFN- $\gamma$  to augment CD8<sup>+</sup> cytotoxic T lymphocytes, but did not directly kill p815 mastocytoma tumor cells. On the other hand, several studies report the negative role of anti-4-1BB stimulation on NK cells including toxicity and excessive systemic inflammation in mice and humans (15, 23). Overproduction of IFN-gamma by CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and NK cells upon stimulation with anti-4-1BB Ab was shown to downregulate the frequency and number of NK cells in the spleens and bone marrows of tumor-bearing mice. NK numbers were otherwise restored in 4-1BB knockout mice (86).

In conclusion, our data collectively confirm SA-4-1BBL to be a bona fide immune modulator possessing anti-tumor properties, successfully bridging innate and adaptive immunities with vast clinical applications. SA-4-1BBL immunotherapy provides a better and safer alternative for clinically applied agonistic TNFR antibodies, and/or

standard treatment regimens such as chemotherapy or radiotherapy that bear several side effects. Deciphering the detailed mechanism(s) of communication between CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, NK cells, and other accessory immune cells in pre-clinical settings, will definitely help in future development of preventative as well as therapeutic anti-tumor vaccines. Towards that end, our future experiments will aim at monitoring and studying the nature and levels of cytokines produced upon SA-4-1BBL versus 3H3 and SA + 3H3 pre-immunizations as well as the cellular phenotypes associated (successfully activated and functional versus anergic and irresponsive). We will also explore the possibility of combining innate immune adjuvants such as monophosphoryl lipid A (MPL) and/or other TNF costimulatory molecules such as OX40L with SA-4-1BBL in pre-immunization settings in order to reach ultimate preventative anti-tumor protection with prolongation in immune responses against metastatic tumor recurrences.





**Figure 1.** Costimulation by SA-4-1BBL overcomes suppression of Tconvs by Tregs independent of APCs. Flow-sorted Tconvs were cocultured with freshly sorted or expanded Tregs at 1:1 ratio in the presence of irradiated splenocytes from wild type or 4-1BB<sup>-/-</sup> mice as APCs and anti-CD3 Ab (0.5 µg/ml). SA-4-1BBL (1 µg/ml) was added to cultures where indicated. Cultures were incubated for 48 h, pulsed with [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine for an additional 16 h, and proliferation was measured and graphed as cpm. Each data point is indicative of mean ± SEM of triplicate wells and representative of 2 separate experiments. Student's t-test (two-tailed) was performed for statistical analysis with \**p* ≤ 0.05 being significant.



**Figure 2.** Costimulation by SA-4-1BBL overcomes suppression of Tregs to Tconvs in absence of APCs. Suppression assay was conducted with sorted Tconvs and Tregs without APCs using plate bound anti-CD3 Ab (5 µg/ml) and soluble SA-4-1BBL (1 µg/ml) where indicated. Each data point is indicative of mean ± SEM of triplicate wells and representative of 2 separate experiments. Student's t-test (two-tailed) was performed for statistical analysis with \**p* ≤ 0.05 being significant.



**Figure 3.** TGF- $\beta$  cytokine is not involved in Tconv evasion of Treg suppression. Sorted Tconvs and Tregs were cocultured at 1:1 ratio in the presence of irradiated APCs and anti-CD3 Ab (0.5 µg/ml). Cultures were also supplied with SA-4-1BBL (1 µg/ml) and blocking Ab to TGF- $\beta$  (either 8 or 50 µg/ml) at the time of incubation. Each data point is indicative of mean ± SEM of triplicate wells and representative of 2 independent experiments. Student's t-test (two-tailed) was performed for statistical analysis with \**p* ≤ 0.05 being significant.



**Figure 4.** Cell surface-bound TGF- $\beta$  is not involved in Tconv evasion of Treg suppression. Sorted Tconvs and Tregs were cocultured at 1:1 ratio in the presence of irradiated APCs and anti-CD3 Ab (0.5 µg/ml). Cultures were supplemented with Tregs pre-incubated with anti-TGF- $\beta$  Ab (50 µg/ml), then stimulated with SA-4-1BBL (1 µg/ml) wherever indicated. Each data point is indicative of mean ± SEM of triplicate wells and representative of 2 independent experiments. Student's t-test (two-tailed) was performed for statistical analysis with \**p* ≤ 0.05 being significant.

40 30 20 20 10 0		*	, ,	
Tconv	+	+	+	+
Treg	-	-	+	+
SA-4-	-	+	-	+
1BBL				
α-IFNγ	-	-	+	+

**Figure 5.** IFN- $\gamma$  cytokine is not involved in Tconv evasion of Treg suppression. Sorted Tconvs and Tregs were cocultured at 1:1 ratio in the presence of irradiated APCs and anti-CD3 Ab (0.5 µg/ml). Cultures were also supplied with SA-4-1BBL (1 µg/ml) and anti-IFN- $\gamma$  blocking antibody (25 µg/ml). Each data point is indicative of mean ± SEM of triplicate wells and representative of 2 independent experiments. Student's t-test (two-tailed) was performed for statistical analysis with \* $p \le 0.05$  being significant.



**Figure 6.** IL-2 is a predominant cytokine upregulated in Tconv and Tregs cocultures costimulated with SA-4-1BBL. Sorted Tconvs and Tregs were cocultured at 1:1 ratio and 48 h later supernatants were collected and subjected to cytometric bead array analysis. Cultures contain irradiated APCs, SA-4-1BBL (1  $\mu$ g/ml) as shown, and soluble anti-CD3 Ab (0.5  $\mu$ g/ml). Data shown is combination of two independent experiments with mean  $\pm$ SEM reported.



**Figure 7.** IL-2 is the predominant cytokine upregulated in Tconv and Tregs cocultures costimulated with SA-4-1BBL without APCs. Sorted Tconvs and Tregs were cocultured at 1:1 ratio and 48 h later supernatants were collected and subjected to cytometric bead array analysis. Cultures were stimulated with plate bound anti-CD3 Ab (5  $\mu$ g/ml) and SA-4-1BBL (1  $\mu$ g/ml) as indicated. Data shown is combination of two independent experiments with mean  $\pm$  SEM reported.



**Figure 8.** RT-PCR  $\Delta\Delta$ CT values for relative IL-2 mRNA expression with respect to GAPDH gene in indicated cultures stimulated with SA-4-1BBL (1 µg/ml) and platebound anti-CD3 Ab (5 µg/ml). IL-2 expression was assessed at 24 (**A**) and 48 (**B**) hours post-stimulation. Each data point represents the mean of triplicate wells ± SD, with \**p* ≤ 0.05 being significant.



**Figure 9.** Removal of SA-4-1BBL from Tconv culture supernatants. Supernatant (sup) of Tconvs stimulated with an agonistic anti-CD3 Ab (5  $\mu$ g/ml) and SA-4-1BBL (1  $\mu$ g/ml) were incubated with CuSO<sub>4</sub>-charged sepharose beads to remove SA-4-1BBL carrying a 6xHis tag. Regular sup (batch 1) and SA-4-1BBL-depleted sup (batch 2) were analyzed using anti-SA antibodies for detection in Western blots. The indicated amounts of SA-4-1BBL protein were used as detection controls.



**Figure 10.** Removal of IL-2 from Tconv culture supernatants. Batch 2 supernatant, cleaned from SA-4-1BBL as described in Figure 9, was incubated with an anti-IL-2 Ab (20 µg/ml) followed by the removal of Ab/IL-2 complexes using immobilized protein G beads to generate batch 3. Batch 2 as well as batch 3 supernatants (50 µl/each) were tested on the IL-2-dependent CTTL-2 cell line with the indicated commercial recombinant IL-2 doses (IU/ml) as positive and PBS as negative controls. Cultures were incubated for 28 h with [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine added for the last 8 h. Proliferation was measured and graphed as cpm. Each data point is indicative of mean  $\pm$  SEM of triplicate wells. Student's t-test (two-tailed) was performed for statistical analysis with \* $p \le 0.05$  being significant. The data is representative for two independent experiments.


**Figure 11.** SA-4-1BBL costimulation-mediated IL-2 production by Tconvs is both necessary and sufficient in overcoming Treg suppression. Sorted Tconvs and Tregs were cocultured at 1:1 ratio in the presence (**A**) or absence (**B**) of irradiated APCs and anti-CD3 Ab. Cultures were also supplemented with SA-4-1BBL (1 µg/ml), IL-2 (3 IU/ml), SA-4-1BBL-depleted supernatants (100 µl/well), or SA-4-1BBL- and IL-2-depleted supernatants (100 µl/well) where indicated. Each data point is indicative of mean  $\pm$  SEM of triplicate wells. Student's t-test (two-tailed) was performed for statistical analysis with \* $p \le 0.05$  being significant.



**Figure 12.** Tconvs proliferate to a higher extent upon SA-4-1BBL stimulation as compared to Tregs. Tconvs sorted from WT C57BL/6 or Tregs sorted from C57BL/6.Foxp3<sup>hCD2</sup> mice were labeled with 2.5µM CFSE and used in coculture suppression assays with irradiated APCs. Cultures were incubated for 64 h and cells were analyzed for proliferation using LSRII flow cytometer.



**Figure 13.** IL-2-mediated Tconvs evasion of Tregs suppression is independent of Tregs proliferative state. Sorted Tconvs and Tregs were cocultured at 1:1 ratio in the presence of APCs and anti-CD3 Ab (0.5 µg/ml). Cultures were also supplemented with SA-4-1BBL (1 µg/ml) or IL-2 (3 IU/ml) wherever indicated. In select cultures, Tregs were irradiated at 2000 cGy (Tregs\*) prior use. Each data point is indicative of mean  $\pm$  SEM of triplicate wells. Student's t-test (two-tailed) was performed for statistical analysis with \**p*  $\leq$  0.05 being significant. Experiment repeated twice with similar pattern detected.



**Figure 14**. Schematic time line to study SA-4-1BBL's immunogenicity. C57BL/6 mice were immunized twice with 25 µg of SA-4-1BBL s.c. on days 0 and 14, followed by TC-1 tumor challenge (1 x 10<sup>5</sup>) s.c. two weeks after the second immunization. Post-tumor vaccination (50 µg E7-P1 peptide + 25 µg SA-4-1BBL) was administered s.c. 8 days after tumor challenge. Mice were monitored for a period of 60 days after tumor injection and measurements were taken twice a week using calipers. Mice were euthanized when average tumor size  $\geq$  12 mm or on day 60 post tumor challenge to be considered the experimental endpoint.







**Figure 16.** Subtyping serum ELISA for pre-immunization group on days 21 and 90. ELISA plates pre-coated with 100 ng of SA-4-1BBL overnight. 1/25 dilution of positive sera is used the next day to test the IgG1, IgG2a, IgG2b, IgG3, IgM, IgA, and IgG2c antibody titers. Each data point is indicative of the mean  $\pm$  SD of duplicate wells.



**Figure 17.** SA is immunogenic and drives the proliferation of T cells *in vitro*. Two naïve and four immunized C57BL/6 mice with 1 shot of SA-4-1BBL (25  $\mu$ g s.c.) were used. Seven days later, spleens were harvested, processed, and cultured *in vitro* for 48 hours in the presence or absence of SA stimulation (5  $\mu$ g/ml). Cultures were pulsed with <sup>3</sup>[H]-thymidine for additional 16 hours and CPMs were recorded. Each data point represents the mean  $\pm$  SEM of triplicate wells.



**Figure 18.** Anti-SA antibodies generated *in vivo* do not help the *in vitro* proliferative function of SA-4-1BBL molecule. Sera were collected on day 21 from SA-4-1BBL preimmunized C57BL/6 mice (25µg on days 0 and 14 s.c.). SA-4-1BBL at different doses (µg/ml) was incubated *in vitro* with naïve or experimental sera ( $\log_{10} = 2.8$ ) for 1 hour at room temperature prior addition to splenocytes stimulated with agonistic anti-CD3 (0.025 µg/ml). Cultures were incubated for 48 hours at 37° / 5% CO<sub>2</sub> followed by additional 16 hours with <sup>3</sup>[H]-thymidine. Plates were harvested and counts were recorded as CPM. Each data point represents the mean ± SEM of triplicate wells. Experiment was repeated twice with same pattern detected.



**Figure 19.** Pre-immunization with SA-4-1BBL does not alter the post-tumor vaccination outcome, but scores 100% survival against TC-1 tumors. Naïve C57BL/6 mice were immunized twice with 25 µg SA-4-1BBL (days 0 and 14 s.c.). Two weeks later (day 28) mice were challenged with TC-1 tumors (1 x  $10^5$  cells s.c.). On day 36, the preimmunization + post vaccination group received a post-tumor vaccine challenge (50 µg E7-P1 peptide + 25 µg SA-4-1BBL s.c.). Mice were monitored for 70 days post tumor injection as shown above. Tumors were measured twice a week using calipers. Mice were euthanized when average tumor diameters had reached  $\geq$  12 mm or when experimental endpoints were met. Experiment repeated twice with mice survival data pooled.



**Figure 20.** Time-course pre-immunization studies with 1 shot SA-4-1BBL against TC-1. C57BL/6 mice were immunized with 1 shot SA-4-1BBL (25  $\mu$ g s.c.) followed by TC-1 challenge (1 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells s.c.) 1 day (**A**), 1 week (**B**), or 2 weeks (**C**) after immunization. Tumor measurements were recorded twice a week using calipers and mice were euthanized when tumor average diameter  $\geq 12$  mm. Survival curves were graphed and log-rank tests were applied between groups using GraphPad software, with p  $\leq 0.05$  to be significant.



**Figure 21.** Time-course pre-immunization studies with 2 shots SA-4-1BBL against TC-1. C57BL/6 mice were immunized twice with SA-4-1BBL (25  $\mu$ g s.c., 2 weeks apart), followed by TC-1 challenge (1 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells s.c.) 1 day (**A**) or 1 week (**B**), after the 2<sup>nd</sup> immunization. Tumor measurements were recorded twice a week using calipers and mice were euthanized when tumor average diameter  $\geq 12$  mm. Survival curves were graphed and log-rank tests were applied between groups using GraphPad software, with p  $\leq 0.05$  to be significant.







preimmun.+ post vaccine (n = 5) preimmunized B6 (n = 16)

Figure 23. SA-4-1BBL establishes significant long-term immune memory against TC-1. To study TC-1 recurrences, a group of naïve C57BL/6 mice were immunized twice with SA-4-1BBL (2 weeks apart), followed by 1<sup>st</sup> TC-1 challenge 2 weeks after the second immunization. A second group of mice was treated exactly the same with additional vaccination (50  $\mu$ g E7-P1 peptide + 25  $\mu$ g SA-4-1BBL) 8 days after 1<sup>st</sup> TC-1 challenge. Mice in both groups were monitored for a period of 60 days after 1<sup>st</sup> tumor injection. At the end of day 60, tumor free mice were rechallenged with a 2<sup>nd</sup> shot of TC-1 and monitored for additional 80 days. Tumors were measured twice a week using calipers and mice were euthanized when average tumor diameter  $\geq 12$  mm. Survival curves were graphed and Log-rank test was applied to compare groups using GraphPad software, with  $p \le 0.05$  to be significant.



Figure 24. SA-4-1BBL primarily generates long-term CD4 effector memory.

C57BL/6 mice were immunized twice with SA-4-1BBL (2 weeks apart), followed by TC-1 challenge 8 weeks after 2<sup>nd</sup> immunization. Mice were monitored 60 days posttumor challenge, after which tumor free mice were euthanized, spleens and draining lymph nodes harvested and stained for flow-cytometric phenotyping. For T-effector memory cells were gated on CD3<sup>+</sup>CD62L<sup>lo</sup>CD44<sup>hi</sup>; for T-central memory CD3<sup>+</sup>CD62L<sup>hi</sup>CD44<sup>hi</sup>; for NK early activation CD3<sup>-</sup> NK1.1<sup>+</sup> CD69<sup>+</sup>; for NK late activation CD3<sup>-</sup> NK1.1<sup>+</sup> CD44<sup>+</sup>.



**Figure 25.** SA-4-1BBL rejects tumors in a non-specific fashion. C57BL/6 mice were immunized twice with SA-4-1BBL (25 µg s.c., 2 weeks apart), followed by LLC (1 x  $10^5$  s.c.), or TC-1 (1 x  $10^5$  s.c.) challenge 2 weeks after the  $2^{nd}$  immunization. Tumor measurements were recorded twice a week using calipers and mice were euthanized when tumor average diameter  $\ge 12$  mm. Survival curves were graphed and log-rank stats were calculated between groups using GraphPad software, with p  $\le 0.05$  to be significant.



Figure 26. Anti-SA humoral immune response did not contribute to the SA-4-1-BBLmediated rejection of tumors. Sera collected on Day 27 from SA-4-1BBL immunized mice (25µg on days 0 and 14 s.c.) were adoptively transferred to naïve C57BL/6 mice (200 µl i.v.) 24 hours prior TC-1 tumor challenge (1 x  $10^5$  s.c.). Tumor diameters were measured with calipers twice a week. Animals were terminated when average tumor size  $\geq 12$ mm.



**Figure 27.** Depletion of NK cells negates SA-4-1BBL's protective effect. Different groups of C57BL/6 mice were immunized twice with 25  $\mu$ g SA-4-1BBL (2 weeks apart), followed by TC-1 (1 x 10<sup>5</sup> s.c.) challenge 2 weeks after the 2<sup>nd</sup> immunization. NK cells were depleted with anti-NK1.1 Ab clone PK136 (500  $\mu$ g i.p.) 1 day before SA-4-1BBL immunizations or 1 day before TC-1 challenge. Tumor measurements were recorded twice a week using calipers and mice were euthanized when tumor average diameter  $\geq$  12 mm or when experimental endpoints were reached. Survival curves were graphed and Log-rank test was applied to compare groups using GraphPad software, with p  $\leq$  0.05 to be significant.



**Figure 28.** Depletion of CD4 cells but not CD8 cells negates SA-4-1BBL's protective effect. Different groups of C57BL/6 mice were immunized twice with 25  $\mu$ g SA-4-1BBL (2 weeks apart), followed by TC-1 (1 x 10<sup>5</sup> s.c.) challenge 2 weeks after the 2<sup>nd</sup> immunization. CD4 cells were depleted with anti-CD4 Ab clone GK1.5 (500  $\mu$ g i.p.), while CD8 cells were depleted with anti-CD8 Ab clone 53.6.72 (500  $\mu$ g i.p.) 1 day before SA-4-1BBL immunizations. Tumor measurements were recorded twice a week using calipers and mice were euthanized when tumor average diameter  $\geq$  12 mm or when experimental endpoints were reached. Survival curves were graphed and Log-rank test was applied to compare groups using GraphPad software, with p  $\leq$  0.05 to be significant.



**Figure 29.** CD4 cells are required during effector phase after TC-1 challenge. C57BL/6 mice were immunized twice with 25  $\mu$ g SA-4-1BBL (2 weeks apart), followed by TC-1 (1 x 10<sup>5</sup> s.c.) challenge 2 weeks after the 2<sup>nd</sup> immunization. CD4 cells were depleted with anti-CD4 Ab clone GK1.5 (500  $\mu$ g i.p.) 1 day before TC-1 injection. Tumor measurements were recorded twice a week using calipers and mice were euthanized when tumor average diameter  $\geq$  12 mm.



**Figure 30.** B cells and antibodies are not involved in SA-4-1BBL-mediated tumor protection. C57BL/6 mice were immunized twice with 25 µg SA-4-1BBL (2 weeks apart), followed by TC-1 (1 x  $10^5$  s.c.) challenge 2 weeks after the  $2^{nd}$  immunization. B cells were depleted with anti-CD20 Ab clone 5D2 (200 µg i.p.) 1 day before SA-4-1BBL immunizations. Tumor measurements were recorded twice a week using calipers and mice were euthanized when tumor average diameter  $\geq 12$  mm or when experimental endpoint was reached.



**Figure 31.** SA-4-1BBL immunization is ineffective against TC-1 in 4C mice. Either 4C or wild type C57BL/6 mice were immunized twice with SA-4-1BBL (25  $\mu$ g s.c.) followed by TC-1 challenge (1 x 10<sup>5</sup> s.c.) 2 weeks later from 2<sup>nd</sup> immunization. Tumor measurements were recorded twice a week using calipers and mice were euthanized when tumor average diameter  $\geq 12$  mm or when experimental endpoints were reached. Survival curves were graphed and Log-rank test was applied to compare groups using GraphPad software, with p  $\leq 0.05$  to be significant.



**Figure 32.** 4C splenocytes stimulated with SA have compromised proliferation. Four 4C and two C57BL/6 mice were immunized with 1 shot of SA-4-1BBL (25  $\mu$ g s.c.). Seven days later, spleens were harvested, processed, and cultured *in vitro* for 48 hours in the presence or absence of SA stimulation (5  $\mu$ g/ml). Cultures were pulsed with <sup>3</sup>[H]thymidine for additional 16 hours and CPMs were recorded. Stimulation index (SI) = average cpm on assessment day with stimulation / average cpm on assessment day without stimulation. Experiment repeated twice with same pattern detected.



**Figure 33.** SA-4-1BBL immunization is capable of generating anti-SA antibodies in 4C mice. 4C or wild type C57BL/6 mice were immunized twice with SA-4-1BBL (2 weeks apart), and sera were collected 1 week after 2<sup>nd</sup> immunization (day 21), and at experimental endpoint when tumors expire. ELISA plates were coated overnight with 50 ng of SA-4-1BBL protein. Next day plates were washed and incubated with serial dilutions of specified sera for 1.5 hours, after which goat-anti-mouse secondary antibody conjugated to HRP was added for 1 hour. Colorimetric reaction was generated using TMB substrate for 30 minutes and plates were read at 450 nm.



**Figure 34.** Subtyping ELISA at tumor endpoints for 4C mice pre-immunized twice with SA-4-1BBL. ELISA plates were pre-coated with 100 ng of SA-4-1BBL overnight. 1/25 dilution of positive sera is used the next day to test the IgG1, IgG2a, IgG2b, IgG3, IgM, IgA, and IgG2c antibody titers. Each data point is indicative of the mean ± SD of duplicate wells.



Figure 35. SA-4-1BBL vs. SA+3H3: SA-4-1BBL as a bona fide novel

immunomodulatory molecule. Different groups of C57BL/6 mice were immunized twice

with either SA alone (12.5 µg s.c.), 3H3 alone (100 µg s.c.), SA + 3H3, or SA-4-1BBL

(25  $\mu$ g s.c.), followed by TC-1 (1 x 10<sup>5</sup> s.c.) challenge 2 weeks after the 2<sup>nd</sup>

immunization. Tumor measurements were recorded twice a week using calipers and mice were euthanized when tumor average diameter  $\geq 12$  mm or when experimental endpoints were reached.



**Figure 36.** Immunization with 3H3 reduces NK cell percentages in spleen lymphocyte population. C57BL/6 mice were immunized twice (2 weeks apart) with either (12.5  $\mu$ g SA + 100  $\mu$ g 3H3 n=4) or (25  $\mu$ g SA-4-1BBL n=4). Three days later, spleens were harvested, processed, and stained for flow cytometric phenoytping. CD4 T cells were gated on CD3<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup>; CD8 T cells were gated on CD3<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup>; NK cells were gated on CD3<sup>+</sup>NK1.1<sup>+</sup>; and NKT cells were gated on CD3<sup>+</sup>NK1.1<sup>+</sup>.



**Figure 37.** Immunization with 3H3 reduces NK absolute cell numbers in spleen lymphocyte population. C57BL/6 mice were immunized twice (2 weeks apart) with either (12.5 µg SA + 100 µg 3H3 n=4) or (25 µg SA-4-1BBL n=4). Three days later, spleens were harvested, processed, and stained for flow cytometric phenoytping. CD4 T cells were gated on CD3<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup>; CD8 T cells were gated on CD3<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup>; NK cells were gated on CD3<sup>-</sup>NK1.1<sup>+</sup>; and NKT cells were gated on CD3<sup>+</sup>NK1.1<sup>+</sup>. Student's t-test (two-tailed) was performed for statistical analysis with  $*p \le 0.05$  being significant.



**Figure 38.** Immunization with 3H3 reduces NK cell percentages in draining lymph nodes' lymphocyte population. C57BL/6 mice were immunized twice (2 weeks apart) with either (12.5  $\mu$ g SA + 100  $\mu$ g 3H3 n=4) or (25  $\mu$ g SA-4-1BBL n=4). Three days later, draining lymph nodes were harvested, processed, and stained for flow cytometric phenoytping. CD4 T cells were gated on CD3<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup>; CD8 T cells were gated on CD3<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup>; NK cells were gated on CD3<sup>-</sup>NK1.1<sup>+</sup>; and NKT cells were gated on CD3<sup>+</sup>NK1.1<sup>+</sup>.



**Figure 39.** Immunization with SA+3H3 vs. SA-4-1BBL absolute cell numbers profile in draining lymph nodes. C57BL/6 mice were immunized twice (2 weeks apart) with either (12.5  $\mu$ g SA + 100  $\mu$ g 3H3 n=4) or (25  $\mu$ g SA-4-1BBL n=4). Three days later, draining lymph nodes were harvested, processed, and stained for flow cytometric phenoytping. CD4 T cells were gated on CD3<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup>; CD8 T cells were gated on CD3<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup>; NK cells were gated on CD3<sup>-</sup>NK1.1<sup>+</sup>; and NKT cells were gated on CD3<sup>+</sup>NK1.1<sup>+</sup>.



**Figure 40.** SA+ 3H3 immunization shuts down antibody production. C57BL/6 mice were immunized twice with 12.5  $\mu$ g SA + 100  $\mu$ g 3H3 Ab. Sera were collected 1 week after the 2<sup>nd</sup> immunization and again at tumor endpoints and subjected to anti-SA ELISA.

## REFERENCES

- Guarner, F., R. Bourdet-Sicard, P. Brandtzaeg, H. S. Gill, P. McGuirk, W. van Eden, J. Versalovic, J. V. Weinstock, and G. A. Rook. 2006. Mechanisms of disease: the hygiene hypothesis revisited. *Nat Clin Pract Gastroenterol Hepatol* 3: 275-284.
- 2. Krummel, M. F., and J. P. Allison. 2011. Pillars article: CD28 and CTLA-4 have opposing effects on the response of T cells to stimulation. The journal of experimental medicine. 1995. 182: 459-465. *J Immunol* 187: 3459-3465.
- 3. Croft, M. 2003. Costimulation of T cells by OX40, 4-1BB, and CD27. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* 14: 265-273.
- 4. Bremer, E. 2013. Targeting of the tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily for cancer immunotherapy. *ISRN Oncol* 2013: 371854.
- van Mierlo, G. J., Z. F. Boonman, H. M. Dumortier, A. T. den Boer, M. F. Fransen, J. Nouta, E. I. van der Voort, R. Offringa, R. E. Toes, and C. J. Melief. 2004. Activation of dendritic cells that cross-present tumor-derived antigen licenses CD8+ CTL to cause tumor eradication. *J Immunol* 173: 6753-6759.
- 6. Melief, C. J. 2008. Cancer immunotherapy by dendritic cells. *Immunity* 29: 372-383.
- Hashimoto-Okada, M., T. Kitawaki, N. Kadowaki, S. Iwata, C. Morimoto, T. Hori, and T. Uchiyama. 2009. The CD70-CD27 interaction during the stimulation with dendritic cells promotes naive CD4(+) T cells to develop into T cells producing a broad array of immunostimulatory cytokines in humans. *Int Immunol* 21: 891-904.
- 8. Ruby, C. E., W. L. Redmond, D. Haley, and A. D. Weinberg. 2007. Anti-OX40 stimulation in vivo enhances CD8+ memory T cell survival and significantly increases recall responses. *Eur J Immunol* 37: 157-166.
- 9. Lacal, P. M., M. G. Petrillo, F. Ruffini, A. Muzi, R. Bianchini, S. Ronchetti, G. Migliorati, C. Riccardi, G. Graziani, and G. Nocentini. 2013. Glucocorticoidinduced tumor necrosis factor receptor family-related ligand triggering upregulates vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 and promotes leukocyte adhesion. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 347: 164-172.
- Shimizu, J., S. Yamazaki, T. Takahashi, Y. Ishida, and S. Sakaguchi. 2002. Stimulation of CD25(+)CD4(+) regulatory T cells through GITR breaks immunological self-tolerance. *Nat Immunol* 3: 135-142.
- 11. Cai, G., and G. J. Freeman. 2009. The CD160, BTLA, LIGHT/HVEM pathway: a bidirectional switch regulating T-cell activation. *Immunol Rev* 229: 244-258.
- 12. Croft, M. 2003. Co-stimulatory members of the TNFR family: keys to effective T-cell immunity? *Nat Rev Immunol* 3: 609-620.

- 13. Broll, K., G. Richter, S. Pauly, F. Hofstaedter, and H. Schwarz. 2001. CD137 expression in tumor vessel walls. High correlation with malignant tumors. *Am J Clin Pathol* 115: 543-549.
- Wang, C., and T. H. Watts. 2012. Maintaining the balance: costimulatory TNFRs and control of HIV. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* 23: 245-254. 15. Bartkowiak, T., and M. A. Curran. 2015. 4-1BB Agonists: Multi-Potent Potentiators of Tumor Immunity. *Front Oncol* 5: 117.
- 16. Long, A. H., W. M. Haso, J. F. Shern, K. M. Wanhainen, M. Murgai, M. Ingaramo, J. P. Smith, A. J. Walker, M. E. Kohler, V. R. Venkateshwara, R. N. Kaplan, G. H. Patterson, T. J. Fry, R. J. Orentas, and C. L. Mackall. 2015. 4-1BB costimulation ameliorates T cell exhaustion induced by tonic signaling of chimeric antigen receptors. *Nat Med* 21: 581-590.
- Curran, M. A., T. L. Geiger, W. Montalvo, M. Kim, S. L. Reiner, A. Al-Shamkhani, J. C. Sun, and J. P. Allison. 2013. Systemic 4-1BB activation induces a novel T cell phenotype driven by high expression of Eomesodermin. *J Exp Med* 210: 743-755.
- Madireddi, S., S. Y. Eun, S. W. Lee, I. Nemcovicova, A. K. Mehta, D. M. Zajonc, N. Nishi, T. Niki, M. Hirashima, and M. Croft. 2014. Galectin-9 controls the therapeutic activity of 4-1BB-targeting antibodies. *J Exp Med* 211: 1433-1448.
- 19. Eun, S. Y., S. W. Lee, Y. Xu, and M. Croft. 2015. 4-1BB ligand signaling to T cells limits T cell activation. *J Immunol* 194: 134-141.
- Nuti, M., F. Bellati, V. Visconti, C. Napoletano, L. Domenici, J. Caccetta, I. G. Zizzari, I. Ruscito, H. Rahimi, P. Benedetti-Panici, and A. Rughetti. 2011. Immune effects of trastuzumab. *J Cancer* 2: 317-323.
- 21. Lipson, E. J., and C. G. Drake. 2011. Ipilimumab: an anti-CTLA-4 antibody for metastatic melanoma. *Clin Cancer Res* 17: 6958-6962.
- Topalian, S. L., F. S. Hodi, J. R. Brahmer, S. N. Gettinger, D. C. Smith, D. F. McDermott, J. D. Powderly, R. D. Carvajal, J. A. Sosman, M. B. Atkins, P. D. Leming, D. R. Spigel, S. J. Antonia, L. Horn, C. G. Drake, D. M. Pardoll, L. Chen, W. H. Sharfman, R. A. Anders, J. M. Taube, T. L. McMiller, H. Xu, A. J. Korman, M. Jure-Kunkel, S. Agrawal, D. McDonald, G. D. Kollia, A. Gupta, J. M. Wigginton, and M. Sznol. 2012. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. *N Engl J Med* 366: 2443-2454.
- Schabowsky, R. H., K. G. Elpek, S. Madireddi, R. K. Sharma, E. S. Yolcu, L. Bandura-Morgan, R. Miller, K. J. MacLeod, R. S. Mittler, and H. Shirwan. 2009. A novel form of 4-1BBL has better immunomodulatory activity than an agonistic anti-4-1BB Ab without Ab-associated severe toxicity. *Vaccine* 28: 512-522.
- 24. Niu, L., S. Strahotin, B. Hewes, B. Zhang, Y. Zhang, D. Archer, T. Spencer, D. Dillehay, B. Kwon, L. Chen, A. T. Vella, and R. S. Mittler. 2007. Cytokine-mediated disruption of lymphocyte trafficking, hemopoiesis, and induction of lymphopenia, anemia, and thrombocytopenia in anti-CD137-treated mice. *J Immunol* 178: 4194-4213.
- 25. Sharma, R. K., E. S. Yolcu, A. K. Srivastava, and H. Shirwan. 2013. CD4+ T cells play a critical role in the generation of primary and memory antitumor

immune responses elicited by SA-4-1BBL and TAA-based vaccines in mouse tumor models. *PLoS One* 8: e73145.

- Srivastava, A. K., R. K. Sharma, E. S. Yolcu, V. Ulker, K. MacLeod, G. Dinc, and H. Shirwan. 2012. Prime-boost vaccination with SA-4-1BBL costimulatory molecule and survivin eradicates lung carcinoma in CD8+ T and NK cell dependent manner. *PLoS One* 7: e48463.
- Sharma, R. K., A. K. Srivastava, E. S. Yolcu, K. J. MacLeod, R. H. Schabowsky, S. Madireddi, and H. Shirwan. 2010. SA-4-1BBL as the immunomodulatory component of a HPV-16 E7 protein based vaccine shows robust therapeutic efficacy in a mouse cervical cancer model. *Vaccine* 28: 5794-5802.
- Melero, I., J. V. Johnston, W. W. Shufford, R. S. Mittler, and L. Chen. 1998. NK1.1 cells express 4-1BB (CDw137) costimulatory molecule and are required for tumor immunity elicited by anti-4-1BB monoclonal antibodies. *Cell Immunol* 190: 167-172.
- 29. Navabi, S., M. Doroudchi, A. H. Tashnizi, and M. Habibagahi. 2015. Natural Killer Cell Functional Activity After 4-1BB Costimulation. *Inflammation* 38: 1181-1190.
- Kuang, Y., X. Weng, X. Liu, H. Zhu, Z. Chen, and H. Chen. 2012. Effects of 4-1BB signaling on the biological function of murine dendritic cells. *Oncol Lett* 3: 477-481.
- Futagawa, T., H. Akiba, T. Kodama, K. Takeda, Y. Hosoda, H. Yagita, and K. Okumura. 2002. Expression and function of 4-1BB and 4-1BB ligand on murine dendritic cells. *Int Immunol* 14: 275-286.
- Sharma, R. K., R. H. Schabowsky, A. K. Srivastava, K. G. Elpek, S. Madireddi, H. Zhao, Z. Zhong, R. W. Miller, K. J. Macleod, E. S. Yolcu, and H. Shirwan. 2010. 4-1BB ligand as an effective multifunctional immunomodulator and antigen delivery vehicle for the development of therapeutic cancer vaccines. *Cancer Res* 70: 3945-3954.
- 33. Srivastava, A. K., G. Dinc, R. K. Sharma, E. S. Yolcu, H. Zhao, and H. Shirwan. 2014. SA-4-1BBL and monophosphoryl lipid A constitute an efficacious combination adjuvant for cancer vaccines. *Cancer Res* 74: 6441-6451.
- 34. Elpek, K. G., E. S. Yolcu, D. D. Franke, C. Lacelle, R. H. Schabowsky, and H. Shirwan. 2007. Ex vivo expansion of CD4+CD25+FoxP3+ T regulatory cells based on synergy between IL-2 and 4-1BB signaling. *J Immunol* 179: 7295-7304.
- 35. Madireddi, S., R. H. Schabowsky, A. K. Srivastava, R. K. Sharma, E. S. Yolcu, and H. Shirwan. 2012. SA-4-1BBL costimulation inhibits conversion of conventional CD4+ T cells into CD4+ FoxP3+ T regulatory cells by production of IFN-gamma. *PLoS One* 7: e42459.
- 36. Sharma, R. K., K. G. Elpek, E. S. Yolcu, R. H. Schabowsky, H. Zhao, L. Bandura-Morgan, and H. Shirwan. 2009. Costimulation as a platform for the development of vaccines: a peptide-based vaccine containing a novel form of 4-1BB ligand eradicates established tumors. *Cancer Res* 69: 4319-4326.
- 37. Sakaguchi, S., N. Sakaguchi, J. Shimizu, S. Yamazaki, T. Sakihama, M. Itoh, Y. Kuniyasu, T. Nomura, M. Toda, and T. Takahashi. 2001. Immunologic tolerance maintained by CD25+ CD4+ regulatory T cells: their common role in controlling

autoimmunity, tumor immunity, and transplantation tolerance. *Immunol Rev* 182: 18-32.

- 38. Curotto de Lafaille, M. A., and J. J. Lafaille. 2009. Natural and adaptive foxp3+ regulatory T cells: more of the same or a division of labor? *Immunity* 30: 626-635.
- 39. Kendal, A. R., Y. Chen, F. S. Regateiro, J. Ma, E. Adams, S. P. Cobbold, S. Hori, and H. Waldmann. 2011. Sustained suppression by Foxp3+ regulatory T cells is vital for infectious transplantation tolerance. *J Exp Med* 208: 2043-2053.
- Kwon, B. S., J. C. Hurtado, Z. H. Lee, K. B. Kwack, S. K. Seo, B. K. Choi, B. H. Koller, G. Wolisi, H. E. Broxmeyer, and D. S. Vinay. 2002. Immune responses in 4-1BB (CD137)-deficient mice. *J Immunol* 168: 5483-5490.
- Singh, N. P., E. S. Yolcu, D. D. Taylor, C. Gercel-Taylor, D. S. Metzinger, S. K. Dreisbach, and H. Shirwan. 2003. A novel approach to cancer immunotherapy: tumor cells decorated with CD80 generate effective antitumor immunity. *Cancer Res* 63: 4067-4073.
- 42. Yolcu, E. S., N. Askenasy, N. P. Singh, S. E. Cherradi, and H. Shirwan. 2002. Cell membrane modification for rapid display of proteins as a novel means of immunomodulation: FasL-decorated cells prevent islet graft rejection. *Immunity* 17: 795-808.
- 43. Shevach, E. M., D. Q. Tran, T. S. Davidson, and J. Andersson. 2008. The critical contribution of TGF-beta to the induction of Foxp3 expression and regulatory T cell function. *Eur J Immunol* 38: 915-917.
- 44. Tran, D. Q. 2012. TGF-beta: the sword, the wand, and the shield of FOXP3(+) regulatory T cells. *J Mol Cell Biol* 4: 29-37.
- 45. Fu, S., N. Zhang, A. C. Yopp, D. Chen, M. Mao, H. Zhang, Y. Ding, and J. S. Bromberg. 2004. TGF-beta induces Foxp3 + T-regulatory cells from CD4 + CD25 precursors. *Am J Transplant* 4: 1614-1627.
- Menoret, A., L. M. Myers, S. J. Lee, R. S. Mittler, R. J. Rossi, and A. T. Vella.
  2006. TGFbeta protein processing and activity through TCR triggering of primary CD8+ T regulatory cells. *J Immunol* 177: 6091-6097.
- 47. Nakamura, K., A. Kitani, and W. Strober. 2001. Cell contact-dependent immunosuppression by CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T cells is mediated by cell surface-bound transforming growth factor beta. *J Exp Med* 194: 629-644.
- Wang, Z., J. Hong, W. Sun, G. Xu, N. Li, X. Chen, A. Liu, L. Xu, B. Sun, and J. Z. Zhang. 2006. Role of IFN-gamma in induction of Foxp3 and conversion of CD4+ CD25- T cells to CD4+ Tregs. *J Clin Invest* 116: 2434-2441.
- 49. Chang, J. H., Y. J. Kim, S. H. Han, and C. Y. Kang. 2009. IFN-gamma-STAT1 signal regulates the differentiation of inducible Treg: potential role for ROS-mediated apoptosis. *Eur J Immunol* 39: 1241-1251.
- 50. Finney, C. A., M. D. Taylor, M. S. Wilson, and R. M. Maizels. 2007. Expansion and activation of CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T cells in Heligmosomoides polygyrus infection. *Eur J Immunol* 37: 1874-1886.
- 51. Takahashi, T., Y. Kuniyasu, M. Toda, N. Sakaguchi, M. Itoh, M. Iwata, J. Shimizu, and S. Sakaguchi. 1998. Immunologic self-tolerance maintained by CD25+CD4+ naturally anergic and suppressive T cells: induction of autoimmune disease by breaking their anergic/suppressive state. *Int Immunol* 10: 1969-1980.

- 52. Kawamoto, K., A. Pahuja, A. Nettles, M. Honkanen-Scott, and P. Bansal-Pakala. 2012. Downregulation of TGF-betaRII in T effector cells leads to increased resistance to TGF-beta-mediated suppression of autoimmune responses in type I diabetes. *Autoimmunity* 45: 310-319.
- 53. Piccirillo, C. A., J. J. Letterio, A. M. Thornton, R. S. McHugh, M. Mamura, H. Mizuhara, and E. M. Shevach. 2002. CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T cells can mediate suppressor function in the absence of transforming growth factor beta1 production and responsiveness. *J Exp Med* 196: 237-246.
- 54. Chapoval, S., P. Dasgupta, N. J. Dorsey, and A. D. Keegan. 2010. Regulation of the T helper cell type 2 (Th2)/T regulatory cell (Treg) balance by IL-4 and STAT6. *J Leukoc Biol* 87: 1011-1018.
- 55. Pillemer, B. B., Z. Qi, B. Melgert, T. B. Oriss, P. Ray, and A. Ray. 2009. STAT6 activation confers upon T helper cells resistance to suppression by regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* 183: 155-163.
- 56. Mantel, P. Y., H. Kuipers, O. Boyman, C. Rhyner, N. Ouaked, B. Ruckert, C. Karagiannidis, B. N. Lambrecht, R. W. Hendriks, R. Crameri, C. A. Akdis, K. Blaser, and C. B. Schmidt-Weber. 2007. GATA3-driven Th2 responses inhibit TGF-beta1-induced FOXP3 expression and the formation of regulatory T cells. *PLoS Biol* 5: e329.
- 57. Hadjur, S., L. Bruno, A. Hertweck, B. S. Cobb, B. Taylor, A. G. Fisher, and M. Merkenschlager. 2009. IL4 blockade of inducible regulatory T cell differentiation: the role of Th2 cells, Gata3 and PU.1. *Immunol Lett* 122: 37-43.
- 58. Malek, T. R. 2003. The main function of IL-2 is to promote the development of T regulatory cells. *J Leukoc Biol* 74: 961-965.
- 59. Chen, Q., Y. C. Kim, A. Laurence, G. A. Punkosdy, and E. M. Shevach. 2011. IL-2 controls the stability of Foxp3 expression in TGF-beta-induced Foxp3+ T cells in vivo. *J Immunol* 186: 6329-6337.
- 60. de la Rosa, M., S. Rutz, H. Dorninger, and A. Scheffold. 2004. Interleukin-2 is essential for CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cell function. *Eur J Immunol* 34: 2480-2488.
- 61. Hofer, T., O. Krichevsky, and G. Altan-Bonnet. 2012. Competition for IL-2 between Regulatory and Effector T Cells to Chisel Immune Responses. *Front Immunol* 3: 268.
- 62. Liu, Z., M. Y. Gerner, N. Van Panhuys, A. G. Levine, A. Y. Rudensky, and R. N. Germain. 2015. Immune homeostasis enforced by co-localized effector and regulatory T cells. *Nature* 528: 225-230.
- 63. Sitrin, J., A. Ring, K. C. Garcia, C. Benoist, and D. Mathis. 2013. Regulatory T cells control NK cells in an insulitic lesion by depriving them of IL-2. *J Exp Med* 210: 1153-1165.
- Smith, S. E., D. B. Hoelzinger, A. L. Dominguez, J. Van Snick, and J. Lustgarten. 2011. Signals through 4-1BB inhibit T regulatory cells by blocking IL-9 production enhancing antitumor responses. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 60: 1775-1787.
- 65. Atkins, M. B. 2002. Interleukin-2: clinical applications. *Semin Oncol* 29: 12-17.
- 66. Yang, J. C., R. M. Sherry, S. M. Steinberg, S. L. Topalian, D. J. Schwartzentruber, P. Hwu, C. A. Seipp, L. Rogers-Freezer, K. E. Morton, D. E.

White, D. J. Liewehr, M. J. Merino, and S. A. Rosenberg. 2003. Randomized study of high-dose and low-dose interleukin-2 in patients with metastatic renal cancer. *J Clin Oncol* 21: 3127-3132.

- 67. Bartelds, G. M., C. A. Wijbrandts, M. T. Nurmohamed, S. Stapel, W. F. Lems, L. Aarden, B. A. Dijkmans, P. P. Tak, and G. J. Wolbink. 2007. Clinical response to adalimumab: relationship to anti-adalimumab antibodies and serum adalimumab concentrations in rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis* 66: 921-926.
- 68. Hsu, L., B. T. Snodgrass, and A. W. Armstrong. 2014. Antidrug antibodies in psoriasis: a systematic review. *Br J Dermatol* 170: 261-273.
- 69. Meyer, D. L., J. Schultz, Y. Lin, A. Henry, J. Sanderson, J. M. Jackson, S. Goshorn, A. R. Rees, and S. S. Graves. 2001. Reduced antibody response to streptavidin through site-directed mutagenesis. *Protein Sci* 10: 491-503.
- 70. Yumura, K., M. Ui, H. Doi, T. Hamakubo, T. Kodama, K. Tsumoto, and A. Sugiyama. 2013. Mutations for decreasing the immunogenicity and maintaining the function of core streptavidin. *Protein Sci* 22: 213-221.
- 71. Weir, C., A. L. Hudson, E. Moon, A. Ross, M. Alexander, L. Peters, V. Langova, S. J. Clarke, N. Pavlakis, R. Davey, and V. M. Howell. 2014. Streptavidin: a novel immunostimulant for the selection and delivery of autologous and syngeneic tumor vaccines. *Cancer Immunol Res* 2: 469-479.
- 72. Brennan, T. V., V. Hoang, K. R. Garrod, F. C. Liu, T. Hayden, J. Kim, and S. M. Kang. 2008. A new T-cell receptor transgenic model of the CD4+ direct pathway: level of priming determines acute versus chronic rejection. *Transplantation* 85: 247-255.
- 73. Golding, B., and D. E. Scott. 1995. Vaccine strategies: targeting helper T cell responses. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 754: 126-137.
- 74. Jost, S., P. J. Tomezsko, K. Rands, I. Toth, M. Lichterfeld, R. T. Gandhi, and M. Altfeld. 2014. CD4+ T-cell help enhances NK cell function following therapeutic HIV-1 vaccination. *J Virol* 88: 8349-8354.
- Prins, R. M., D. D. Vo, H. Khan-Farooqi, M. Y. Yang, H. Soto, J. S. Economou, L. M. Liau, and A. Ribas. 2006. NK and CD4 cells collaborate to protect against melanoma tumor formation in the brain. *J Immunol* 177: 8448-8455.
- 76. Fehniger, T. A., M. A. Cooper, G. J. Nuovo, M. Cella, F. Facchetti, M. Colonna, and M. A. Caligiuri. 2003. CD56bright natural killer cells are present in human lymph nodes and are activated by T cell-derived IL-2: a potential new link between adaptive and innate immunity. *Blood* 101: 3052-3057.
- Zingoni, A., T. Sornasse, B. G. Cocks, Y. Tanaka, A. Santoni, and L. L. Lanier. 2004. Cross-talk between activated human NK cells and CD4+ T cells via OX40-OX40 ligand interactions. *J Immunol* 173: 3716-3724.
- 78. Bihl, F., J. Pecheur, B. Breart, G. Poupon, J. Cazareth, V. Julia, N. Glaichenhaus, and V. M. Braud. 2010. Primed antigen-specific CD4+ T cells are required for NK cell activation in vivo upon Leishmania major infection. *J Immunol* 185: 2174-2181.
- 79. Horowitz, A., K. C. Newman, J. H. Evans, D. S. Korbel, D. M. Davis, and E. M. Riley. 2010. Cross-talk between T cells and NK cells generates rapid effector responses to Plasmodium falciparum-infected erythrocytes. *J Immunol* 184: 6043-6052.
- Foell, J., S. Strahotin, S. P. O'Neil, M. M. McCausland, C. Suwyn, M. Haber, P. N. Chander, A. S. Bapat, X. J. Yan, N. Chiorazzi, M. K. Hoffmann, and R. S. Mittler. 2003. CD137 costimulatory T cell receptor engagement reverses acute disease in lupus-prone NZB x NZW F1 mice. *J Clin Invest* 111: 1505-1518.
- 81. Kim, J., W. S. Choi, S. La, J. H. Suh, B. S. Kim, H. R. Cho, B. S. Kwon, and B. Kwon. 2005. Stimulation with 4-1BB (CD137) inhibits chronic graft-versus-host disease by inducing activation-induced cell death of donor CD4+ T cells. *Blood* 105: 2206-2213.
- 82. Mittler, R. S., T. S. Bailey, K. Klussman, M. D. Trailsmith, and M. K. Hoffmann. 1999. Anti-4-1BB monoclonal antibodies abrogate T cell-dependent humoral immune responses in vivo through the induction of helper T cell anergy. *J Exp Med* 190: 1535-1540.
- 83. Kohrt, H. E., R. Houot, K. Weiskopf, M. J. Goldstein, F. Scheeren, D. Czerwinski, A. D. Colevas, W. K. Weng, M. F. Clarke, R. W. Carlson, F. E. Stockdale, J. A. Mollick, L. Chen, and R. Levy. 2012. Stimulation of natural killer cells with a CD137-specific antibody enhances trastuzumab efficacy in xenotransplant models of breast cancer. *J Clin Invest* 122: 1066-1075.
- Kohrt, H. E., R. Houot, M. J. Goldstein, K. Weiskopf, A. A. Alizadeh, J. Brody, A. Muller, R. Pachynski, D. Czerwinski, S. Coutre, M. P. Chao, L. Chen, T. F. Tedder, and R. Levy. 2011. CD137 stimulation enhances the antilymphoma activity of anti-CD20 antibodies. *Blood* 117: 2423-2432.
- Wilcox, R. A., K. Tamada, S. E. Strome, and L. Chen. 2002. Signaling through NK cell-associated CD137 promotes both helper function for CD8+ cytolytic T cells and responsiveness to IL-2 but not cytolytic activity. *J Immunol* 169: 4230-4236.
- 86. Choi, B. K., Y. H. Kim, C. H. Kim, M. S. Kim, K. H. Kim, H. S. Oh, M. J. Lee, D. K. Lee, D. S. Vinay, and B. S. Kwon. 2010. Peripheral 4-1BB signaling negatively regulates NK cell development through IFN-gamma. *J Immunol* 185: 1404-1411.

### CURRICULUM VITAE Hampartsoum Barsoumian

Email: dr. barsoumian@gmail.com

## I. Education & Training

# University of Louisville, Department of Microbiology and Immunology – May 2016

Doctor of Philosophy in Microbiology and Immunology

## American University of Beirut, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Microbiology and Immunology – May 2010

Masters of Science in Immunology and Graduate Assistant

### American University of Beirut – May 2008

Bachelors of Science in Biology and Pre-med

- Took the Medical College Admission Test (MCAT) 2008
- Cambridge University AS level Certificate in 5 subjects 2007
- Cambridge University IGCSE O-Level Certificate in 7 subjects 2005
- SAT and TOEFL certificates 2005

## II. Research Background

1<sup>st</sup> author on the research article titled: 4-1BB signaling in conventional T cells drives IL-2 production that overcomes CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup>FoxP3<sup>+</sup> T regulatory cell suppression.

1<sup>st</sup> author on the research article titled: The Effect of Antibacterial agents on Nitric Oxide Levels Induced by Lipopolysaccharide in Mice.

 $2^{nd}$  author on the research article titled: The effect of nebivolol on the production of nitric oxide induced by bacterial lipopolysaccharide and peptidoglycan in mice.

Research assistant on the project titled: Presence of *Porphyromonas gingivalis* and *Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans*, Serum CRP Levels and HLA Associations in Chronic and Aggressive Periodontitis in a Selected Lebanese Group.

## III. Laboratory Acquired Techniques

- Tumor injections, measurements, and handling mice
- Tissue processing and culturing
- PCR and RT-PCR
- Western Blotting
- ELISA and Elispot
- Flow Cytometry
- In vitro Killing Assays
- *In vivo* killing assays
- Immune cells proliferation assays
- Suppression coculture assays
- Cytokine analysis
- Synthesis and purification of proteins from bacterial or insect cell lines
- Histological staining

# IV. Awards and Achievements

- Tuition Match Award from University of Louisville, School of Interdisciplinary and Graduate Studies (Spring 2014 to Spring 2015)
- Center of Predictive Medicine at University of Louisville Retreat presentation (Nov. 20<sup>th</sup> 2015). Titled: SA-4-1BBL in Cancer and Immunity
- Research Louisville poster presentation finalist (2014)
- International Student Leadership award 2013, University of Louisville
- Certificate of participation in the 7<sup>th</sup> Arab Conference for Antimicrobial Agents, Beirut, Lebanon
- Research award from the company of "Initiative for Biodiversity Studies in Arid Regions" (IBSAR) in Lebanon
- Gold medal holder in national piano contest

# V. Extracurricular Activities

- American International Relations Club at University of Louisville
  - Member (2010)
  - Co-president (2011)
  - President (2012, 2013)
- Admissions committee representative for 2 years, Department of Microbiology and Immunology, University of Louisville
- Member at the Peer mentoring program, Microbiology and Immunology Student Organization, University of Louisville

- Volunteer at the University of Louisville Hospital Emergency Medicine Department (2013 2015)
- Poster Presentation Judge Manual High School, Louisville, KY
- Member of the Biology Society at the American University of Beirut
- Treasurer and Vice President at the Latino Dance Club at the American University of Beirut
- Member of the Lebanese Armenian Heritage Club
- Member of the Armenian General Benevolent Union's Young Professionals

### **Spoken Languages**

- Excellent English
- Excellent Armenian
- Excellent Arabic

### Supporting information and recommendations are available upon request